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In a time of significant 
challenge and change in the 
NHS, we are proud of our staff 
and the care they provide for 
the local community. 
  
In 2014/15, we achieved all of 
the national cancer targets, 
significantly reduced rates of 
hospital acquired infections and 
attracted national recognition 
for clinical services ranging 
from maternity care to bowel 
cancer, preventing blood clots 
and our use of research and 
innovation to improve care. 
  
Set against this we struggled to 
improve the number of patients 
who were admitted or 
discharged from the 
Emergency Department within 
4 hours or reduce the number 
of cancelled operations due to 
the availability of surgical beds. 
There are multiple reasons for 
this position some of which we 
must resolve ourselves and 
some of which require better 
integration of services across 
the health and social care 
community. 
  
Financially, 2014/15 was a 
difficult year and for the first 
time in several years the Trust 
recorded a deficit. We did 
however reduce our historic 
debt and negotiate a better 
loan with a reduced interest 
rate to pay off that historic debt, 
which now stands at 
approximately £18 million. The 
financial challenges for the 
whole NHS are well reported 
and we expect to record a 
deficit again in 2015/16 before 
returning to surplus in 2016/17. 
  
It is no surprise that the 
financial and operational 
pressures have impacted on 
staff satisfaction at work - 
recorded in the 2014 national 
staff survey - but we can 

improve the level of staff engagement in devising and implementing the 
solutions. To this end we have redoubled our efforts to ensure the 
popular Listening into Action staff engagement programme is well 
supported and clinically led to achieve positive change. 
 
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust (RCHT) undoubtedly has the talent 
and capability to become an outstanding organisation and we are 
extremely grateful to all of our staff, volunteers, Friends, Shadow 
Governors and members of the community who continue to support us 
through direct and indirect action. Over 95% of the community we serve 
regularly say they would recommend our hospitals to their friends and 
family – a testament to everyone who works and helps at the Trust.  
  
Our commitment, and that of the whole Trust Board, is to ensure 
that RCHT now has a strong leadership team with the resolve and 
capacity to provide outstanding care each and every time. Our focus in 
the 12 months ahead will be to continue to develop our clinical leaders 
and partner with other provider organisations to offer seamless, 
integrated and personal care closer to where people live. We need to 
seize the opportunities set out in the NHS 'Five year Forward View' and 
support the approach throughout the NHS to think more like a patient 
and act more like a taxpayer.  

 

 

 

                
 

Bill Shields Dr Jon Andrewes 

Interim Chief Executive Chairman 

  



Strategic review 

 Annual Report 2014 - 15  6 

Trust Profile 
 

 
 

The Royal Cornwall Hospitals 
Trust is the principal provider of 
specialist hospital services for 
the majority of the population of 
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.  
Our staff provide a range of 
planned and emergency 
services from our three sites: 
 

 Royal Cornwall Hospital, 
Truro 

 St Michael’s Hospital, 
Hayle 

 West Cornwall Hospital, 
Penzance 

 
as well as at community 
hospitals and other locations 
across the county, including x-
ray imaging services to support 
minor injury units and visiting 
screening and scanning 
services. 
 
We employ around 5,000 staff.  
They are our most valuable 
asset.  Their skills, knowledge 
and experience underpin the 
care we provide as well as our 
clinical research and education 
to support our role as a 
Teaching Hospitals Trust. 
 
As partners with the Peninsula 
College of Medicine & 
Dentistry, University of Exeter 
Medical School and the 
University of Plymouth we 
provide a training base for 
medical, nursing and allied 
health professionals.  Our 
Learning & Development and 
Postgraduate Medical 
Education teams deliver a 
broad programme of multi-
disciplinary professional 
development. 
 
Nearly all of our care is 
commissioned by NHS Kernow 
clinical commissioning group. 
 

A growing research, 
development and innovation 
culture within the Trust is 
forging continued expansion of 
a portfolio of trials, with activity 
in nearly every medical 
specialty.  We work as part of 
the South West Clinical 
Research Network and are a 
partner in the Quintiles project, 
one of the largest clinical trials 
organisations in the world. 
 
Our Strategic Aims:  
 

 Quality - we will provide 
outstanding health care 
services that are safe, 
responsive, accessible and 
effective to meet patients’ 
needs and achieve best in 
class performance.  
 

 People - we will make best 
use of our expert skills and 
capabilities, invest in 
education, training and 
research to continually improve 
our practice, and offer fulfilling 
and valued careers.  
 

 Partnership -we will 
collaborate and innovate with 
our partners to deliver 
integrated, patient-focussed 
pathways of care, and be the 
provider of choice in Cornwall.  
 

 Resources - we will be 
financially sustainable and 
make efficient use of our 
resources to provide safe and 
welcoming environments, 
modern equipment, and 
technology, to underpin service 
transformation. 
 

 

 

 

 

Royal Cornwall Hospital 

 
 

Our main hospital site providing a 
range of acute and specialist care. 
The 24hr Emergency Department 
is a designated trauma unit as part 
of the South West regional trauma 
network. 
 

 

 

St Michael’s Hospital, Hayle 

 
 

A centre of excellence for breast 
cancer and orthopaedic surgery 
our strategic plan is to further 
develop the hospital’s potential for 
the delivery of wider range of 
planned surgery. 
 

 

 

West Cornwall Hospital, 

Penzance 

 
 

With a of inpatient and outpatient 
services, the hospital’s 24hr urgent 
care centre offers a unique model 
of care in partnership with GPs to 
meet the needs of the local 
population.
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Royal Cornwall Hospitals Trust in numbers 
  
  

Our Care 
 

Over half a million outpatient contacts 

70,000 planned inpatient and day case treatments 

Just under 80,000 people attended our emergency department or urgent care centre 

Almost 55,000 emergency admissions 

Over 4,300 babies born in our maternity units or supported at home births 

 
 

Our staff 
 
Just over 5,000 staff including: 

 1,500 nurses and midwives 

 630 doctors 

 860 clinical support workers 

 330 allied health professionals 

 
 

Our finances 
 

We had a year-end deficit of £6.9 million 

A turnover of £342.5 million 

We made efficiency savings of £9.7 million 

Over £20m invested in our buildings and equipment 
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Quality and safety 
 

Quality and safety of care are 
our absolute priorities, and 
need to be considered in the 
context of our duty of candour, 
and the increasing degree of 
external scrutiny and public 
interest.  The following are 
examples of improvements we 
have made in the last year, 
more detail can be found in our 
Quality Accounts 2014-15. 
 

Care Quality Commission 
regulation 
 
We have maintained our 
unconditional registration with the 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
and have been working to address 
the recommendations following 
inspection in January 2014 after 
which assessors rated RCHT as 
‘requires improvement’. 
 
Of the two key recommendations 
the most challenging continues to 
be that of managing patient flow 
across the health and social care 
community.  Alongside the 
changes we need to make within 
RCHT, vital to the resolution of the 
underlying issues is the 
commitment to a strategy across 
the health, social care and 
voluntary sectors to partnership 
working and long-term integration 
of services. 
 
The CQC inspection also 
highlighted the need to ensure 
patient records are accurate, 
complete and held securely.  Over 
the last year we have revised 
documentation, upgraded ward 
records storage facilities and 
continue to develop our 
computerised systems towards a 
fully electronic health record.   
 
The Trust was subject to a further 
unannounced visit from the Care 
Quality Commission in June 2015 
and its report was due to be 
released shortly after finalisation of 
this report.  It is expected to 
highlight further areas where we 

must focus efforts over the coming 
months. 
 
Safer care 
 
Concerted focus on infection 
prevention and control 
 
Concerted efforts have seen good 
progress in reducing the incidence 
of hospital acquired infection in the 
last year, particularly in respect of 
Clostridium difficile where we saw 
a 25% reduction in cases. 
 
There were a number of 
contributing factors including 
improved compliance with hand 
hygiene protocols, with audits 
achieving above 90%, and the 
introduction of probiotics.   
 
Sustained efforts to control the use 
and management of antibiotics 
have also played an important 
role.  This saw RCHT ranked 
second of 18 Trusts in the south 
west region who took part in the 
latest audit.  The Trust was more 
than 10% above the regional 
average with 92% of antibiotic 
prescriptions having documented 
stop or review dates and had the 
second highest rate of compliance 
with antibiotic guidance, at 96.4%. 
 
There continues to be similar 
focus on other healthcare acquired 
infections.  There was one case of 
MRSA bloodstream infection.  
Response to outbreaks of 
Norovirus was well managed with 
no evidence of cross-infection 
between different wards. 
 
Hospital mortality rates 
 
RCHT recorded a higher than 
expected hospital standardised 
mortality rate (HSMR) during 
2013-14. This was made a priority 
area for improvement.  
 
In response we have improved the 
review process of each death in 
hospital sharing learning across 
clinical teams, increased the 
number of junior doctors on wards 

at a weekend and extended 
diagnostic service cover, improved 
the monitoring and escalation of 
the care needs of our sickest 
patients through the National Early 
Warning Score (NEWS).   
    
Additionally, the Critical Care 
outreach team has begun work 
across the Trust, we are improving 
the referral system between 
specialty teams and are expanding 
the simulation training provided for 
ward staff, modelling the success 
at the Bristol Simulation Centre on 
the care of critically ill patients.  
More detail can be found in our 
Quality Accounts 2014-15. 
 
Incident reporting 
 
The Francis Review has continued 
to be a focus for highlighting the 
absolute necessity for staff to 
report incidents where there is a 
risk of, or actual, harm to patients, 
visitors or those working at our 
hospitals.  
 
During the year 3 Never Events 
were recorded and 82 serious 
incidents.  A rigorous investigation 
process is in place to respond to 
all incidents and to ensure learning 
and necessary change is 
implemented.  More detail is 
provided in our Quality Accounts 
2014-15. 
 



Strategic review 

 Annual Report 2014 - 15  9 

Clinical excellence 
 
Our staff are constantly striving 
to further improve standards of 
care, finding new and better 
ways to provide services.  Over 
the last year many have 
achieved recognition for work 
that has benefited not only 
patients at RCHT but that also 
sets new standards for others 
to follow, nationally and 
internationally.   
 
Some examples include: 
 
Bowel Cancer – Specialist nurse, 
Candy Coombe received national 
recognition for her part in the 
establishing a social media 
support group for local patients 
and their families. 
 
Cardiology – The cardiac team 
became the second in the country 
to be invited to sign-up for a new 
patient registry tracking the 
performance of stents used in 
heart procedures around the 
world. 
 
Diabetes – Diabetes Nurse 
Specialists were among four 
finalists in this year’s Quality in 
Care Awards for their 
development of a ward-based 
simulation training programme for 
responding to patients having a 
hypoglycaemic attack. 
 
Gynaecology – Endometriosis 
specialists have played a key role 
in the development of national 
guides setting out a blueprint for 
service provision and fact sheets 
for health professionals. 
 
Hepatology – Innovative models of 
care and partnership with the 
voluntary sector look set to pave 
the way nationally to offer easier 
access for ‘hard to reach’ groups 
to treatment for Hepatitis C. 
 
Obstetrics – Maternal and fetal 
medicine specialist, Dr Aylur 
Rajasri was the national winner of 
a Tommy’s Award in recognition of 

expertise in the management of complex and high-risk pregnancy. 
 
Paediatrics – Medical, nursing and allied health professional paediatric 
specialists had an outstanding number of presentations accepted to share 
innovations and best practice from RCHT at this year’s international congress. 
 
Pharmacy – New electronic systems for prescribing and medicines 
management were recognised in the finals at two separate national awards for 
patient safety and effectiveness. 
 
Venous Thromboembolysm (VTE) – RCHT became one of 19 Trusts nationally 
to be recognised as a centre of excellence in the prevention of VTE. 
 
 

 
 Adult Inpatient Diabetes Nurse Specialists, Kim Bull, Amanda Veall and 

Amanda Davies 
 
 

 
 Dr Aylur Rajasri (right) receives her Tommy’s award from celebrity Nancy 

Sorrell, together with Emma Sansbury (left) one of the many mum’s Dr 
Rajasri has helped through their pregnancy. 
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Access to services 
 
Significant investment in our 
emergency department, including 
completion of a two stage £4.2 
million expansion project and 
opening of an ambulatory 
emergency care unit (AECU) have 
played an important part as our 
hospitals face rising demand and 
delayed transfers of care as 
patients move between health and 
social care services. 
 
The enlarged emergency 
department has meant fewer 
handover delays for ambulance 
crews and in its first 6 months of 
operation the AECU prevented the 
admission of around 40% of 
patients, offering same day 
diagnostics, treatment and 
discharge plans. 
 
Whilst our front-line clinical teams 
have worked hard to provide safe 
and effective care for emergency 
patients, the knock-on effect has 
been the inconvenience caused to 
the many patients with planned 
routine operations who have seen 
these cancelled at short notice.  
Concerted efforts to reschedule 
appointments have meant the vast 
majority of patients have received 
their treatment within 18 weeks of 
referral by their GP.  We have 
continued to meet targets on 
diagnosis and treatment of 
patients with suspected cancers. 
 
 

 

 St Michael’s Hospital is highly 
praised by patients for its 

caring and compassionate 
approach. Our aim is to 

further develop the hospital 
as a centre of excellence for 

planned surgery. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Performance against targets 
 

  Target Actual 
 

Cancer access Cancer waits against 
target - composite 

All 
achieved 

All 
achieved 

Referral to 
treatment times 

% admitted treatments 
within 18 weeks 

>90% 87.9% 

% non-admitted 
treatments within 18 
weeks 

>95% 98% 

% incomplete pathways 
less than 18 weeks 

>92% 95.4% 

Diagnostics Percentage of patients 
receiving one of the 15 
key diagnostic tests 
within 6 weeks 

>99% 99.78% 

Emergency 
Department 
(A&E) access 

% patients treated or 
admitted within 4 hours 

>95% 85.5% 

Infection Control MRSA bacteraemia 0 1 

C.Difficile acquisitions <35 30 

Stroke Percentage of patients 
who have spent more 
than 90% of their time 
in a stroke unit 

83% 54.6% 

Patient 
experience 

Likely to recommend 
ward 

>50 73 

 Likely to recommend 
A&E 

>50 53 

 Mixed sex 
accommodation 
breaches 

0 5 

Patient Flow Day case rates >83.7% 84.76% 

Research, 
Development 
and Innovation 

Recruitment to new 
trials 

>2100 2942 
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For the future, resolving patient 
flow difficulties continues to be a 
top priority as we look to make 
changes to the way we provide 
care within and outside of RCHT.   
 
Working together with partner 
organisations providing health and 
social care, as well as with the 
voluntary sector, a key focus is on 
the development of community 
based services to allow early 
intervention, avoiding admission to 
hospital, or to expedite return 
home or transfer to other 
appropriate care settings.  This is 
neither quick, nor easy to achieve 
in the context of the financial 
constraint we face but all parties 
are clear on the need for better 
integration and breaking down of 
barriers to allow effective and 
sustainable change. 
 
Improving patient pathways 
 
To improve the effectiveness of 
the way the Trust and local health 
community see and treat patients, 
new pathways have been 
implemented for chest pain, heart 
failure and respiratory disease.  
These are designed to enable 
more rapid diagnosis and 
ultimately reduce admissions to 
hospital.   
 
The new format rapid access 
chest pain clinics were expanded 
to accommodate increased 
referral rates, which have similarly 
been seen in heart failure.  
Respiratory and Heart Failure 
‘care bundles’ are providing clear 
plans for management of these 
chronic conditions, whilst 
empowering patients to have 
greater control over their care. 
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How are we doing? 
 
What our patients say 
 
We are committed to improving the patient experience. We do this through 
public and patient involvement and by using feedback to identify trends and 
themes. 
 
One of the more recent measures has been the Friends and Family Test used 
across the NHS and asking a simple question on whether or not patients would 
recommend the care they have received to others.  Feedback across our three 
hospitals shows that 95% of patients who responded say they would 
recommend us. 
 

 
 
At RCHT we also supplement the Friends and Family Test with optional 
questions to support our CARE campaign so that we can measure how well we 
are meeting our commitments:  
 

 Communicate with compassion 

 Assist with toileting, ensuring dignity 

 Relieve pain effectively 

 Ensure adequate nutrition 
 
There are a number of other ways in which patients are also able to share their 
views.  Our hospitals achieve 5-star and 4-star ratings on the NHS Choices 
website and we also receive feedback from National Patient Surveys 
undertaken in all NHS Trusts.  Our results in these surveys continue to show 
that overall our patients are satisfied with the care they received but that there 
are also areas where we need to focus effort on making improvements. 
 
We have also been developing ways of engaging and getting feedback from 
those with communication difficulties.  The ‘Kinda Magic’ initiative developed by 
Peninsula Community Health offers face-to-face conversations, employing, 
where needed, a range of communication tools and methods, enabling staff to 
receive instant verbal feedback from patients.  Feedback is collected and used 
to make immediate and longer-term improvement. 
 
 
 

 
Responding to concerns 
 
It is always our desire to respond 
to any concerns at the time they 
arise though discussion with the 
appropriate clinical or 
administrative team.  Where that is 
not possible our Patient 
Experience team, including our 
‘front of house’ Patient Advice & 
Liaison Service, undertake 
intermediary resolution and 
complaint investigation. 
 
We also work closely with SEAP, 
an independent advocacy service, 
who visit our hospitals on a regular 
basis to support patients and 
relatives who wish to raise 
concerns. 
 
Set against the context of more 
than 700,000 patient contacts 
during the year, we received 
3,157 expressions of thanks and 
543 complaints.  It is always our 
aim to learning form any 
experience that does not live up to 
the high standards to which we 
aspire or the expectations of our 
patients and each complaint is 
thoroughly investigated, action 
plans for improvement put in place 
and followed-up.  16 complaints 
were referred to the Health 
Service Ombudsman and of these 
11 were not upheld, 3 were partly 
upheld, 1 was upheld and 1 
outcome is still awaited. 
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Providing individual care 
 
Through initiatives such as ‘About 
Me’ and the more recently 
introduced Carer’s Passport we 
are working hard to make sure our 
care is truly tailored to individual 
needs and to enable relatives and 
close friends to be as involved as 
they want to be in their loved one’s 
care. 
 
This is particularly relevant to the 
care of those with dementia where 
we also continue to offer a weekly 
memory café at West Cornwall 
Hospital and have redesigned our 
care of the elderly ward at the 
Royal Cornwall Hospital with a 
wide range of dementia-friendly 
adaptations.   
 
Independent assessment of our 
environment 
 
We have worked together with our 
own patient ambassadors 
alongside HealthWatch Cornwall 
and HealthWatch Isles of Scilly to 
continue our annual programme of 
assessment of our hospital 
environment, looking at 
cleanliness, food, décor and 
maintenance.   
 
Known as PLACE assessments, 
scores published for our latest 
assessment in June show that our 
hospitals compare favourably with 
others around the country and in 
particular high standards of 
cleanliness were noted at West 
Cornwall and St Michael’s 
Hospitals. 
 
There were areas where results 
were not as good as we would 
like.  Scores for decoration and 
maintenance reflected differences 
between parts of our hospitals that 
have and haven’t undergone 
refurbishment.  Recent investment 
in equipment and training to 
support our catering service are 
expected to improve results in 
next year’s assessment. 
 
These are essential aspects of 
patient care and which play an 

important part in perception and 
confidence in our clinical services. 
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Investing in new technologies and facilities 
 
We have now completed 54 of the 
64 projects in the first phase of our 
Clinical Site Development 
Programme (CSDP) which began 
in 2010.  This represents an 
investment of around £50million in 
equipment and new and upgraded 
facilities across our three hospital 
sites.  
 
Despite the financial challenges 
facing the Trust it has delivered 
considerable improvements in its 
infrastructure through its Capital 
Programme in 2014-15, spending 
£20.1m on estate projects, estate 
improvements and medical and 
information technology equipment.  
 
The Trust was successful in 
securing funding for several 
investments, receiving £341,000 
for Electronic Prescribing, 
£251,000 for GP Order Comms, 
£89,000 for improvements to the 
Birthing Experience and £665,000 
from the Integrated Digital Care 
Fund.   
 
The Trust underspent by £0.75m 
against its Capital Resource Limit, 
£0.65m of which relates to funding 
received in 2014-15 for an IT 
project to be delivered in 2015/16. 
 
Those projects completed as part 
of CSDP during 2014-15 include: 
 
Linear Accelerator (£2.4million) – 
a replacement for one of the two 
original Linear Accelerators used 
to deliver radiotherapy treatments, 
which were installed when the 
Sunrise Centre opened in 2002. 
 
Pharmacy Robot (£308,000) – 
replacement of the existing 
automated dispensing robot in our 
main pharmacy on the Royal 
Cornwall Hospital site.  The robot 
offers a faster dispensing system, 
reducing risk of error and expiry of 
medicines, whilst maximising the 
limited storage space available. 
 
 
 

Dementia Friendly Environments (£550,000) – completion of programme of 
refurbishments to introduce improved signage, colour coding and other 
enhancements to reflect the needs of patients with dementia and memory loss. 
 

 
 
 
Older People’s Ward (£1.6million) – Refurbishment of an existing ward 
template to create a purpose-designed environment for the care of older 
patients, particularly those with dementia.  Kerenza Ward is equipped with 
additional bathroom facilities, ceiling mounted hoists and a communal area for 
patients. 
 
As well as medical equipment and buildings, there have been significant 
advances in a number of clinical IT systems, including the roll-out to all 
inpatient areas of electronic prescribing and online requests and results for 
clinical imaging and pathology diagnostics.  Both projects speed up access and 
increase patient safety through improved tracking and monitoring of patient 
care. 
 
For 2015-16 total capital expenditure is planned to be £14.4m which still 
enables considerable investment in the Trust’s estate, medical capital 
equipment and information technology infrastructure, linked to the delivery of 
the ‘E Health’ Strategy.   
 
Further projects are underway including a major upgrade for the endoscopy 
unit and scheduling for the remodelling of maternity and neonatal care facilities, 
upgrades to Tower Block surgical wards and improvements to our cardiac 
investigation unit.   
 
Longer term plans are being developed for creation of a new stroke and 
neurology unit, upgrading of outpatient facilities at West Cornwall Hospital and 
cardiology and respiratory outpatients at Royal Cornwall Hospital.  St Michael’s 
Hospital is also being earmarked for further investment in order to increase the 
range and number of planned operations and outpatient services at the 
hospital.
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Research and innovation 
 
At RCHT we are building a strong 
reputation for research and the 
number of trials underway and the 
team itself has been growing year 
on year.  In the last year more 
than 2900 people were signed up 
to take part in trials, exceeding the 
target of 2100 and an increase of 
90% on the previous year. 
  
Among our successes were a 
world first in recruiting to one new 
breast cancer study and being the 
biggest national recruiter to 
another.  However, our portfolio of 
research and trials reaches across 
almost every medical specialty.  
  
The efficiency of the Research 
Development and Innovation team 
is a vital part in our success as 
particularly in areas where there is 
competition to secure commercial 
trials, which bring in valuable 
investment, they are proving their 
ability to get trials up and running 
quickly. 
 
During the last year Dr Duncan 
Wheatley has been appointed, 
alongside his role as consultant 
oncologist, as our Clinical Lead for 
Research Development and 
Innovation.  An active research 
environment is beneficial in 
recruiting top class clinicians, and 
active clinical leadership is an 
important factor in attracting new 
talent to RCHT. 
  
Our RD&I team continues to 
promote the national It’s OK to 
Ask campaign, highlighting the 
benefits of research to patients 
including access to the best and 
very latest treatments, ‘gold-
standard care’ and the future 
legacy they leave for others. 
 
RD&I is also supporting innovation 
with RCHT-based projects in 
areas including infection 

prevention, gynaecology, and antibiotic resistance. 
 

 
 
An Innovation Club has been established to support our staff in developing their 
own research and innovation projects, meeting regularly to share ideas and to 
access expert advice to guide them through the many processes involved to 
bring them to fruition and to ensure both the RCHT’s and innovators’ interests 
are protected.  RCHT has logged the second highest number of innovations 
(20) within the local Area Health Sciences Network with more than half of those 
under active evaluation.  Our Innovation Leads work closely with the Research, 
Development and Innovation team to ensure the Trust has an integrated 
approach to innovation and that efforts are not duplicated. 
 
Some of our innovators have launched their own companies such as, ‘My 
Clinical Outcomes’ and ‘My Pre-op’.   My Clinical outcomes is currently being 
used by Trauma and Orthopaedics after a successful application to the Health 
Foundation for funding and is providing evidence of patient outcomes and 
reducing follow-up appointments. The Trust has also supported the purchase of 
a number of additional licences to see expansion from Trauma and 
Orthopaedics to other specialties, including breast surgery, pelvic floor surgery 
and rheumatology. 
 
 

 
 

 Dr Duncan Wheatley (right) along with the breast cancer research team. 
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Our People 
 
In early 2014 we launched our 
corporate values, drawn up in 
consultation with staff and through 
our Listening into Action 
programme.   
 
These are: 
 

 
Care+compassion 

Inspiration+innovation 
Working together 

Trust+respect 
Pride+achievement 

 
 
Work continues to embed these 
values throughout the 
organisation. In 2014 they were 
used as the basis of a refreshed 
staff awards scheme, enabling us 
to recognise those teams and 
individuals demonstrating an 
outstanding commitment or 
contribution to one or more of the 
values.  The awards attracted over 
150 nominations with four finalists 
and one overall winner selected in 
each value category. 
 
What our staff say 
 
The national NHS staff survey 
results for 2014 were poor with 
RCHT having the lowest national 
scores in a number of areas 
including staff feeling satisfied with 
the quality of work and patient 
care they are able to deliver (64%) 
and feeling secure raising 
concerns about unsafe practice 
(54%). The Trust had the worst 
national score for staff job 
satisfaction and staff 
recommending the Trust as a 
place to work or receive treatment. 
This is in stark contrast to the 94% 
of patients who would recommend 
RCHT to their friends and family.    
 
The results undoubtedly reflected 
frustrations in the quality of care 
we can provide in the context of 
operational pressures and as well 

as unpopular decisions on hotel 
services and staff car parking.  We 
fully accept there is much more to 
be done to bring about the pride in 
working in our hospitals that ought 
to be reflected by the high level of 
satisfaction recorded by our 
patients. 
 
Engaging with our staff 
 
We have continued develop our 
channels of communication with 
staff, refining our face-to-face 
‘Team Talk’ cascade briefings to 
increase relevance to front-line 
staff; further evolved our One+all, 
daily, monthly and tri-annual 
publications; and increased our 
use of online digital and social 
media tools. 
 
The largest staff engagement 
activity during the last year has 
been the consultation with Hotel 
Services staff and Trades Unions 
prior to transfers of employment 
under TUPE arrangement to 
chosen contractor, Mitie. 
 
During 2015-16 it is proposed to 
reinvigorate our Listening Into 
Action programme and to use this 
as a springboard to make 
demonstrable improvements in our 
staff survey results. 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Listening into Action 
 
 
In response to the staff survey 
results our Listening into Action 
programme has been re-launched 
with the full backing of the Trust 
Board team.  
 
A highly successful series of ‘Big 
Conversations’ was held with over 
600 staff. The five major themes 
for improvement are: 
  
 Staffing, recruitment, use of 

agency clinicians and training 
 Patient flow at RCHT – one 

logical, seamless system 
 Integrated IT systems and 

single log-in 
 Procurement, scheme of 

delegation and equipment 
replacement 

 Communication – 
compassionate, open, 
honest, face-to-face  

 
14 clinically led work streams are 
underway to address the key 
areas of frustration and concern. 
 
Some of our ‘quick wins’ so far: 
 

 Reducing the cost of car 
parking for lower paid staff 

 Debit cards for ward sisters 
to enable quick purchase of 
small non-stock items 

 Removal of executive 
approval level in recruitment 
process 

 Increased visability of Trust 
Board members 
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Developing skills, building careers 
 
RCHT’s Our People Strategy sets out the importance we place on investing in 
leadership and training of our workforce.   
 
As part of our focus on strengthening leadership a manager’s passport has 
been introduced offering a programme of study to develop skills and expertise. 
Similarly we are keen to encourage those in more junior roles and have 
continued to work with Unison on the delivery of training for staff in Bands 1-4 , 
offering the grounding to go on to more advanced study and career 
development. 
 
Apprenticeships, back to work schemes and work experience are also seen as 
an essential part of our future workforce development, offering a variety of 
ways to introduce young people and those looking for a new career into the 
NHS in clinical and administrative roles. 
 
We have been improving the induction of new employees to RCHT, including 
the development of a training programme for Healthcare Support Workers to 
equip them with basic skills and greater confidence before going into the 
clinical environment. 
 
Our team of Assistant Practitioners is being expanded as a key role to support 
registered nursing staff and allied health professionals, offering a career 
pathway for individuals wanting to extend skills.  Our Level 5 Diploma 
programme is now accredited by the University of Plymouth and is a stepping 
stone to nursing and midwifery degree courses. 
 

 
 

 Trainee Assistant Practitioner Lois Trathen makes use of her extended 
skills. 

 
 
 

Attracting high calibre staff 
 
In an increasingly competitive 
recruitment environment both 
within and outside the NHS, new 
approaches have been engaged 
to attract high calibre staff able to 
support the values and aims of 
RCHT.  These include the 
development of online resources 
and plans to work with 
international recruitment 
specialists to support the 
expansion of our nursing 
workforce. 
 
As a vital part of our ability to 
respond flexibly to demand on our 
services, innovative changes have 
also been made to employment 
terms for staff on our in-house 
bank – Kernowflex.  This includes 
improvements to pay rates, 
introduction of bonus payments 
and plans to bring in training 
credits and other rewards by the 
end of 2015.  A bespoke 
mandatory training package and 
personal development review 
process has also been put in 
place. 
 
Improvements have been made to 
our electronic staff record and 
roster system to support the 
effective deployment of 
substantive and bank staff, which 
will ultimately reduce or reliance 
on agency and locum staff where 
we have been seeing significant 
increases over the last 2 years.  
We are also working together with 
other local Trusts to bring down 
agency costs. 
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Working together - our commissioners and partners 
 
Commissioning 
 
During 2014-15, the majority of the 
Trust’s activity was commissioned 
by NHS Kernow and NHS England 
(for specialised services). Clinical 
services were also commissioned 
by Cornwall Council.   
 
As the Trust operates within a 
‘payment by results’ framework, 
and given the inherent challenge 
in determining the level of activity 
that the Trust may need to carry 
out, there is always a level of risk 
and uncertainty over the exact 
level of income which will be 
received. One of the primary 
outcomes from the close working 
between the Trust and its 
commissioning partners is the 
development of agreed plans 
setting out the level of activity we 
are expected to provide.  
 
 
Partnerships 
 
In addition to working with its 
commissioning partners, the 
Directors have regular meetings 
with senior officers, patients and 
other interested parties across the 
local health community, including: 
the NHS Trust Development 
Authority; monthly contract 
performance monitoring meetings 
with NHS Kernow; joint meetings 
with Cornwall health and social 
care providers, including Cornwall 
Council and Peninsula Community 
Health Community Interest 
Company; regular meetings with 
service users’ representative 
groups, including HealthWatch 
Cornwall and HealthWatch Isles of 
Scilly, Independent Patient 
Ambassadors and numerous 
patient groups throughout the 
Trust; and regular attendance at 
the Health and Adult Social Care 
Overview Scrutiny Committee 
meetings. 
 
These forums and successor 
forums will continue to ensure that 
the Trust plays a key role in the 

delivery of healthcare across the 
local community. 
 
 
Closer working and service 
integration 
 
Central to the future success of 
health and social care provision in 
the region is better integration of 
services and closer working 
between provider organisations.  
 
We are working with partner 
organisations to achieve further 
devolution of powers to Cornwall 
which will enable greater local 
control of health and social care 
spending. We recognise that we 
have a once in a generation 
opportunity to integrate health and 
social care services to provide 
seamless care for the local 
community.   
 
Specifically, we are currently 
working with Cornwall Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust to explore 
whether we can become one 
integrated NHS provider within the 
next few years. Together, both 
organisations are also working 
with local GPs to bid for adult 
community services, once 
Peninsula Community Health 
cease their provision of these 
services in April 2016. 
 
Integrated care will provide better 
outcomes for patients and better 
value for money for the taxpayer 
and the Trust will play a full part in 
ensuring the local community 
benefit from the opportunities set 
out in the NHS ‘Five Year Forward 
View’. 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Charitable Funds 

 

A drive to raise the profile of the 
Royal Cornwall Hospitals 
Charitable Fund is forging a new 
partnership with our local 
community, raising awareness of 
the many individual ward and 
departmental funds under the 
Charity’s umbrella. 

Charitable Funds are used to 
improve patient experience and 
welfare with top-of-the-line 
equipment and amenities to 
ensure comfort during care. Staff 
are also supported through 
trainings, development, and 
appreciation from grateful patients. 

Over the last year a new identity 
has been launched for the Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals Charity and a 
fundraising strategy developed. 

During the year over £700,000 
was given to the Charity through 
donations, legacies, gifts and 
fundraising activities.  More 
information can be found in the 
RCH Charity Annual Report. 
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Partnership in action 
 
Innovative models of care are 
showing real benefits in areas 
where we have been working to 
improve the effectiveness of the 
way RCHT and its partner 
organisations see and treat 
patients.   
 
These include changes to the way 
services are provided for patients 
with chest pain, heart failure and 
respiratory disease which are 
aimed at improving access to 
specialist services when needed 
but also to support people to 
manage chronic conditions at 
home, reducing the risk of acute 
episodes and avoiding admission 
to hospital. 
 
A new alcohol liaison service will 
be working across acute and 
primary care to identify patients 
sooner and offer the intervention 
that can reduce the long term 
impact on health. 
  
Technological advances are 
playing an increasingly important 
role with patients able to make use 
of home monitoring devices 
providing data that can be 
reviewed remotely by clinicians to 
assess wellbeing and spotting 
signs warranting a need for 
intervention.  Many specialties 
now offer specialist nurse-led 
telephone follow-up after surgery 
reducing the need for patient 
travel and making better use of 
clinicians’ time. 
 
Welcome Home 
 
Part of the Living Well project in 
Penwith, and funded by NHS 
Kernow, Welcome Home is a 
partnership with the voluntary 
sector, Age UK Cornwall & IOS 
and Volunteer Cornwall, to support 
patients on their return home from 
hospital.  Offering home visits, 
help with shopping or just friendly 
chat over a cup of tea, it is proving 
a valuable life-line in equipping 
elderly and vulnerable patients to 
return home and regain their 
confidence. 

 
The scheme has been in operation 
at West Cornwall Hospital and 
initial results show that lengths of 
stay have been considerably 
reduced and patients with a 
previous history of regular 
readmission are less frequently in 
need of hospital care.  This model 
of care is set to be expanded more 
widely across the county 
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Friends and Volunteers 
 
Leagues of Friends at each site 
and around 500 volunteers 
support the everyday work of our 
hospitals, providing valuable 
additional services for the benefit 
of patients, visitors and staff.   
 
A volunteer recruitment campaign 
has been further boosting 
numbers offering new 
opportunities to attract not only 
those who have time to give but 
also those who may be 
considering a future career in 
health services.  With volunteering 
experience becoming an 
increasingly desirable pre-
requisite of further education 
applications, we are able to offer a 
wide variety of opportunities. 
 
If you would like to know more 
about volunteering, call the 
Voluntary Services Office on 
01872 253737. 
 
 
Trust Members 
 
Over the last year our Trust public 
membership has grown from 
5,960 to 7,329.  Clinical teams 
have supported trust member 
recruitment at community events 
such as Flora Day and the Royal 
Cornwall Show, offering health 
checks, advice and information. 
 
A successful engagement 
programme has included an Open 
Day, with talks and tours to 
coincide with our Annual General 
Meeting and the launch of an on-
going series of ‘Let’s talk’ events.  
These have focussed on a range 
of topics including diabetes, 
dementia, volunteering and 
research, with feedback showing 
an appetite for more of this style of 
involvement. 
 
Our members receive a monthly 
electronic newsletter, as well as a 
magazine published twice a year, 
and we intended to continue to 
recruit more public members in the 
lead-up to a new Foundation Trust 
application. 

 
 
 
 

 
 Working alongside our staff at the West Cornwall Hospital Memory Café –

one of the many ways volunteers add to patient experience. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 Involving audiences of all ages, such as ‘SimMan’s’ attendance at the 

Royal Cornwall Show, has been a feature of this year’s membership 
engagement activities.
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Recognising our performance challenges and the need to achieve sustained improvement the absolute priorities for 2015-16 
are to: 
 

Consistently achieve the ED four hour 
performance, referral to treatment and 
other key quality and access targets 

 

Further reduction in hospital mortality 
rates 

 

Achieve financial recovery including 
delivery of the Cost Improvement 
Programme 

 

Engage our staff more effectively and 
improve the outcomes of the staff 
survey 

 
 
Whilst maintaining priority on the 
quality of the services we currently 
provide we will be fully involved in 
the design of new, integrated 
services across Cornwall and the 
Isles of Scilly. 
 
It is our intention to be creative 
about the way we develop 
services so that patients can 
receive the care they need at 
home, or closer to home, avoiding 
admission to hospital wherever 
possible. 
 
Where patients are admitted, it is 
equally important for us to ensure 
they are able to go home, or to a 
suitable environment to continue 
their care, as soon as they are 
clinically ready. 
 
We have already been refocusing 
our care pathways to ensure that 
discharge planning is at the 
forefront of treatment plans and a 
successful project has 
dramatically increased the 
proportion of inpatients with an 
active date of expected discharge.   
 
Better information for patients and 
relatives is also helping to improve 
communication and understanding 
of the role they play in this 
process. 
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Sustainability Report 
 
Reducing our environmental 
impact 
 
We have an action plan to become 
more sustainable and are working 
with other organisations locally 
and nationally to share best 
practice.  Among the carbon 
reducing measures we have 
already taken are solar power, an 
Active Travel plan, waste 
reduction and local sourcing of 
patient meals and other products 
wherever viable. 
 
Over the last year negotiations 
have been on-going to secure 
grant funding from the Carbon and 
Energy Fund to enable a number 
of key schemes aimed at reducing 
our energy bills and carbon 
footprint.   
 
We have awarded contracts to 
Cofely as our supply chain partner 
to take forward  a project that will 
improve our energy infrastructure, 
leading to savings of over 
£300,000 per annum and a 
reduction in carbon emissions by 
34%. 
 
The project will see a new Energy 
Centre installed at the Royal 
Cornwall Hospital Site, which will 
include a combined heat power 
plant, new generators and bio-
mass boiler, together with site-
wide improvements such as LED 
lighting, sub-metering, solar PV 
and real time energy displays.   
 
Investment is also planned at 
West Cornwall & St Michael’s 
Hospitals with the whole project 
designed to ensure the Trust is 
ahead of the game in meeting the 
NHS Carbon Reduction Strategy 
target of 34% CO2 reductions by 
2020.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Our energy use 
 
The Trust spent £2,885 million on energy in 2014-15, which is a 1.24 percent 
increase. 
 

Resource 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 

Gas Use (MWh) 22,596,281 24,566,956 24,411,742 

tCO2e 4,617.55002 5,211.63405 5,121.65678 

Oil Use (MWh) 0 0 0 

tCO2e 0 0 0 

Coal Use (MWh) 0 0 0 

tCO2e 0 0 0 

Electricity Use (MWh) 17,722,171 17,658,652 17,422,262 

tCO2e 10,115.9924 9,887.24072 10,790.1295 

Total energy cO2e 14,733.5425 15,098.8748 15,911.7863 

Total energy spend £ 2,572,165 £ 2,850,231 £ 2,885,524 
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Annual Governance Statement 2014-15 
 
(A) Scope of Responsibility 
 
The Board is accountable for 
internal control.  As Accountable 
Officer, and Chief Executive of this 
Board, I have responsibility for 
maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the 
achievement of the organisation’s 
policies, aims and objectives.  I 
also have responsibility for 
safeguarding the public funds and 
the organisation’s assets for which 
I am personally responsible as set 
out in the Accountable Officer 
Memorandum. 
 
The Trust’s Risk Management 
Strategy states that the Chief 
Executive is ultimately responsible 
for effective risk management 
within the Trust.  At an operational 
level, this task has been delegated 
to the Deputy Chief Executive & 
Nurse Executive. Day to day 
responsibility for risk management 
has been delegated to senior 
managers throughout the Trust. 
 
Delivery of these responsibilities is 
scrutinised by the Trust’s 
Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors, through meetings of the 
Trust Board, Governance and 
Audit Committees. This scrutiny 
role is supported by the Board’s 
sub-committees and working 
groups, for example at the 
Finance, Performance & 
Investment Committee.  Minutes 
and reports from these 
committees are reviewed in Board 
meetings, of which a number are 
held in public.  The work of the 
committees and the decisions of 
the Trust Board provide evidence 
of the on-going efforts to ensure 
that the overall governance, risk 
management and clinical 
governance systems are operating 
as they are supposed to.   
 
The Trust is part of a local health 
system and national health 
economy.  Accountability extends 
not only to Government, but also 
to partner organisations and to 
patients and service users.  In 

recognition, the Trust’s planning 
and key objectives reflect the 
strong focus that is now placed on 
improved and expanded 
integrated and partnership 
working. 
 
The Trust is accountable to the 
NHS Trust Development Authority 
(TDA) under the auspices of the 
Accountability Framework for 
performance and control issues.  
 
The TDA hold a range of meetings 
with the Chief Executive and 
Executive Directors where generic 
and community wide issues of 
control are discussed and actions 
agreed. In addition, the Trust has 
regular meetings with senior 
officers, patients and other 
interested parties across the local 
health community. The range of 
these meetings includes: 
 

 Monthly reporting to the TDA 
on performance and 
governance issues and 
regular meetings at regional 
and national level; 

 Monthly performance 
meetings with  NHS Kernow 
(Cornwall Clinical 
Commissioning Group -  
KCCG) and the Devon and 
Cornwall Area Team (AT);  

 Joint meetings with other 
Health Service Providers  
(including Cornwall Council, 
Cornwall Partnership 
Foundation Trust and 
Peninsula Community 
Health) ; 

 Regular meetings with 
service users’ representative 
groups, including Local 
Health Watch, Patient 
Ambassadors and numerous 
patient groups throughout the 
Trust; and 

 Regular attendance at the 
Health Scrutiny and Social 
Care Scrutiny Committee 
meetings. 

 
(B) The Governance Framework 
of the Organisation     

 
The Trust Board is engaged in 
reviewing internal control and risk 
management arrangements for the 
Trust. This is achieved through the 
maintenance and review of the 
Board Assurance Framework 
(BAF) and the consideration of 
matters brought to the Board and 
its sub-committees attention. 
Additionally, significant internal 
control issues continue to be 
reported to me immediately and to 
the Trust Management 
Committee, Audit Committee and 
Trust Board at the earliest 
opportunity.  
 
Details of the Trust board and its 
committees are contained within 
the Director’s report. 
 
(C) Risk Assessment 
 
The Trust recognises that one of 
the key success factors in 
achieving good governance is the 
effective management of risk 
The Trust’s Risk Management 
Strategy and Policy (the Risk 
Management Strategy) was 
updated in May 2014 and the 
requirements for reporting risks, 
definitions of risks, as well as the 
reporting process and the lines of 
accountability have been 
incorporated into the Strategy. The 
Strategy highlights the reporting 
structure for individuals as well as 
committees. The Strategy 
describes the scoring system for 
assessing the severity of the risk 
facing the Trust and the 
mechanisms for ensuring that the 
Trust Board maintains its focus on 
mitigating the most critical risks. 
The requirements for reporting 
risks, definitions of risks, as well 
as the reporting process and the 
lines of accountability have been 
incorporated within the Risk 
Management Strategy. The 
Strategy is available to all staff 
through the Trust’s website in the 
documents library.  The Strategy 
states that all staff are responsible 
for managing risks.  All staff are 
provided with risk management 
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training as part of their induction 
process. Additionally on-going 
mandatory training is required for 
all staff. 
 
The Trust’s Risk Management 
Strategy is reviewed and updated 
annually.  
The strategy:  

 Defines the Trust’s attitude to 
risk;  

 Defines unacceptable and 
acceptable risk; 

 Recognises the legal basis of 
requirements for risk 
assessment and risk 
management; 

 Describes the design of the 
Trust’s risk scoring approach; 

 Describes the function of the 
assurance framework and 
risk registers; 

 Identifies the roles and 
responsibilities, for risk 
management, of non-
executive and executive 
directors, management and 
staff; and 

 Describes the structure of 
assurance, delivered through 
the working groups and 
committees of the Trust 
Board. 

All staff are informed of the need 
to report incidents, via the Trust’s 
intranet incident reporting facility, 
and to disseminate experience 
and learn from incidents.  The 
Trust has a policy for managing 
complaints, concerns, comments 
and compliments.  The Trust also 
utilises improved incident reporting 
arrangements, including quarterly 
Complaints, Litigation, Incidents 
and PALS reports, which provide 
an analysis of incidents and 
identify action plans for addressing 
weaknesses identified. The 
reports are produced for each 
clinical division and for the Trust 
as a whole. These reports then 
link through and are integrated 
with the Trust’s Board Assurance 
Framework. 
 
Trust Board Assurance 
Framework – High level risks and 
gaps in assurance and control 
The Trust has developed a 
detailed process for monitoring the 

risks to achieving its objectives 
and strategic aims, based on the 
Board Assurance Framework. This 
framework: 

 Identifies the Trust’s principal 
objectives, across all its main 
areas of activity and in 
accordance with the 
published Trust strategy; 

 Identifies the risks to the 
achievement of strategic 
objectives; 

 Identifies the components of 
the system of internal control 
in place to manage the risks;  

 Identifies the review and 
assurance sources which the 
Trust Board rely on relating to 
the effectiveness of such 
systems; and  

 Records the actions taken by 
the Trust Board to address 
identified gaps in control and 
assurance.  

The Trust Board identifies risks to 
achieving its strategic aims, along 
with the key assurances that the 
Trust has around controls in place 
to ensure delivery of the aims and 
objectives.  
It is the responsibility of the 
Company Secretary to ensure that 
the Board Assurance Framework 
is kept up to date and is used to 
influence the agenda for the Trust 
Board.  
 
The Audit Committee is 
responsible for reviewing the 
processes in place for the 
development and monitoring of the 
Trust Board Assurance 
Framework and the Trust’s 
Management Committee is 
responsible for ensuring that there 
are appropriate links between the 
Board Assurance Framework and 
the Trust’s Risk Registers. 
 
The Trust plans that systems of 
internal control are in place and 
work effectively throughout the 
whole year; however there are 
instances where controls are not 
fully effective and these may result 
in the Trust not being able to 
obtain the required level of 
assurance. The Trust sets out 
those gaps in control and 
assurance in this statement and 

confirms that action is being, or 
has been taken, to improve the 
control environment. 
 
The highest rated risks as at 31 
March 2015 that have been 
reported to the Board are shown in  
Appendix 1. 
 
The Board Assurance Framework 
is a live document and is regularly 
updated and changed. In 2015/16 
the Board Assurance Framework 
will be updated as a matter of 
course to reflect the Trust’s 
revised business objectives for the 
new financial year. 
 
Risks in relation to data security 
The Trust’s overall arrangements 
for managing data security lie 
within the responsibilities of the 
Deputy Chief Executive & Nurse 
Executive, or nominated Executive 
Director in their absence. Where 
key data security risks arise, they 
are recorded on the Trust’s risk 
register and addressed as part of 
the overall risk assurance 
management processes. The 
Trust’s annual self-assessment 
declaration, in the information 
governance toolkit, indicates that it 
maintains a high level of security 
over information and data security. 
During the year five issues 
regarding data breaches were 
reported to the Information 
Commissioner. These were 
investigated with appropriate 
management action taken. 
 
The Trust has been assessed as 
compliant for the 2014-15 
Information Governance Toolkit. 
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(D) The Risk and Control 
Framework 
 
This section covers the risk and 
control framework and describes 
the system of internal control. 
 
System of Internal Control 
The system of internal control is 
designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to 
achieve policies, aims and 
objectives. It can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of 
internal control is based on an on-
going process designed to: 
 

 Identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of 
the Trust’s policies, aims and 
objectives; and 

 Evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised, 
the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively 
and economically. 

 
The system of internal control has 
been maintained in the Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust for 
the year ended 31 March 2015 
and up to the date of approval of 
the Annual Report and Accounts.  
 
Risk Management Control 
Framework 
Risks are identified across all 
functions of the Trust’s activity, 
including clinical, support services, 
corporate and administrative 
functions. Risks are not limited to 
insurance and health and safety 
issues, but include risks of non-
delivery of key targets and 
operational objectives. The risk 
registers and assurance 
framework take account of the 
Trust’s relationship with other NHS 
organisations and with patients 
and the public. The annual 
planning cycle, at all levels of the 
Trust, includes the requirement for 
specialty, divisional and 
departmental plans to identify and 
assess the risks and assurances 
associated with each of the key 

objectives identified.  These risks 
and assurances are required to be 
incorporated into the relevant risk 
registers. 
 
All risks that are identified are 
assessed, for likelihood of 
occurrence and scale of impact 
should the risk occur. The 
assessment process uses a risk 
scoring system, which is defined in 
the Risk Management Strategy. 
The Trust has also designed a 
detailed five-point classification of 
the likelihood and impact of a 
range of risk types, to help guide 
managers in determining the 
consequence and likelihood 
scores.   Each risk that is recorded 
in the risk register is assigned to a 
named individual.  Risks that are 
considered to be significant, but 
which cannot be addressed at the 
level where they are identified, are 
passed up to the next level of 
management. The highest level 
risks, with the most significant 
potential impact on the Trust, are 
incorporated into the Board 
Assurance Framework.   
 
The risk registers, including the 
Corporate Risk Registers and 
Board Assurance Framework 
identify the actions planned to 
address the risks identified and an 
assessment of the likely residual 
risk.  Specialty and departmental 
risk registers are monitored at 
Divisional governance meetings. 
Locally, high level risks are 
discussed with executive directors 
at monthly performance meetings 
and the Risk committee as part of 
regular assurance framework 
review.   
 
Head of Internal Audit Opinion – 
Risks and Gaps in Control 
Internal Audit is a key source of 
assurance on the sound operation 
of the Trust’s internal controls.  
The independent Head of Internal 
Audit opinion for 2014-15 provided 
significant assurance that a 
generally sound system of internal 
control was in place and that this 
was designed to meet the 
organisation’s objectives and the 

controls within it were generally 
being applied consistently.  
 
Risks Identified through Working 
with External Stakeholders 
Externally, the Trust works with a 
range of stakeholders to identify 
and manage risks. In relation to 
key contracts for clinical services, 
the Trust was performance 
managed by NHS Kernow for 
CCG services and NHS England 
for specialised services. This 
includes quality and operational 
performance including patient 
‘access’ times and contract 
finance performance through 
regular contract review meetings. 
 
The detailed monitoring and 
analysis of the contract is 
undertaken by the Contract 
Management Group. These 
mechanisms are key to ensure 
contract performance and related 
risks are effectively managed 
through the performance process.  
 
The Trust in its accountability to 
the TDA is part of wider system of 
external risk assessment and 
management with regard to all 
aspects of its operation. The Trust 
Executive attended monthly 
meetings with senior officers of the 
TDA and quarterly meetings with 
the Trust’s Chair in attendance. 
More widely, the Trust engaged 
with other stakeholders, both 
national and local, such as the 
Strategic Clinical Network and 
health system partner providers 
and is a member of the Whole 
Systems Resilience Network 
(WSRN), which includes 
representatives from the key 
system partners of the public 
sector in the County to work 
together to manage operational 
risks and sustain safe clinical 
services. This ensures the Trust 
keeps track of emerging risks 
across the healthcare system and 
wider public sector. 
 
RCHT works closely with 
commissioners and partners 
across health and social care 
through the commissioner led 
Quality, Innovation, Productivity 
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and Prevention (QIPP) 
Programme to identify how 
services will develop and identify 
and manage risk from this 
process. 
 
Any risks identified from working 
with external stakeholders have 
been recorded on the Trust’s Risk 
Management System and 
escalated as appropriate for 
review by the Risk Committee.  
 
Compliance with NHS Pension 
Scheme Regulations 
As an employer with staff entitled 
to membership of the NHS 
Pension Scheme, control 
measures are in place to ensure 
all employer obligations contained 
within the Scheme Regulations 
are complied with.  This includes 
ensuring that deductions from 
salary, employer’s contributions 
and payments in to the Scheme 
are in accordance with the 
Scheme Rules and that Trust 
member Pension Scheme 
Records are accurately updated in 
accordance with the timescales 
detailed in the Regulations. The 
Trust is satisfied that pension 
deduction and calculations are 
made in accordance with 
regulations. 
 
Compliance with equality, diversity 
and human rights legislation 
The Trust has ensured its 
compliance with Equality 
legislation through the utilisation of 
the Equality Delivery System tool 
(EDS2). This tool supported the 
Trust to prove that it is meeting its 
Public Sector Equality Duty by 
gathering evidence to meet the 18 
outcomes within it. The evidence 
was then assessed by the relevant 
stakeholders and grades awarded.  
 
The grades achieved in 2014 were 
greatly improved from the previous 
year, with three grades 
approaching excelling and one 
noted as excelling, for the patient 
related outcomes. One grade 
dropped lower than in 2013 and is 
therefore a major focus in the 
Equality Objectives action plan for 
2015. 

 
In addition, the Trust has recently 
published its Annual Equality 
Report. This report contained 
information on the characteristics 
of the Trust’s workforce and the 
people who use the Trust’s 
services in order to identify any 
possible inherent disadvantage or 
issue with individuals being 
excluded from opportunities or 
services.  
 
One workforce related action from 
the Equality Report is that a series 
of audits are planned for 2015 to 
scrutinise the recruitment and 
promotion process for any 
possible discrimination of minority 
groups.  
 
An example of a work stream 
involving patients is the plan to run 
an awareness campaign to explain 
why there is a need to collect their 
personal information and how the 
Trust would use it in a positive 
way. 
 
Compliance with Climate Change 
Adaptation Reporting to Meet the 
Requirements under the Climate 
Change Act 2008 
The Trust has adopted a 
Sustainable Management 
Development Plan and associated 
action plan aimed at ensuring all 
activities undertaken within the 
operation of the organisation have 
considered the effect of climate 
change.  All Business Plans are 
required to evidence how 
sustainable development has 
been considered as part of 
proposals for the development of 
services, systems and estate.   
Specific activities include working 
with the Transport and Travel 
Office to encourage active travel, 
the Procurement Department have 
embedded ‘sustainability’ into their 
activities and the risk register has 
been updated to consider the 
effects of climate change on the 
Trust. Closer links have been 
forged with the wider community 
through co-operation on the 
Carbon Wise intranet page 
covering all Cornwall NHS 
healthcare organisations and 

wider work with the Council and 
private sector on the future plans 
for the County.   
 
An NHS sustainability day took 
place on 25th March 2015 and the 
Trust is progressing an Energy 
Sustainability Project which will 
embed sustainability into the 
Trusts’ activities at all levels, 
leading to significant CO2 
emission reductions. 
 
Compliance with Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) – essential 
standards of quality and safety 
The Trust is fully compliant with 
CQC essential standards of quality 
and safety.  
 
The Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) carried out one of the first 
reviews under the new inspection 
regime when it inspected the Trust 
in January 2014. The inspection 
focussed on whether services are 
safe, effective, caring, responsive 
to peoples’ needs and whether the 
organisation was well-led. The 
inspection covered eight service 
areas across the three RCHT 
sites. 
 
The RCHT received the final copy 
of the inspection report on 21st 
March 2014. The CQC found that 
many of the services provided by 
the Trust were delivered to a good 
standard. The rating of ‘requires 
improvement’ for the Treliske site 
and ‘Good’ for West of Cornwall 
Hospital and St Michael’s sites 
recognises the RCHT being on an 
improvement path towards a 
“Good” rating. 
The Trust has delivered the 
agreed improvement plan which 
detailed the actions that were 
taken to address the 
recommendations in the report.  
 
The main actions were:  

 Better management of 
patients’ records including 
their safe keeping, accuracy 
and completeness; 

 Improved planning and 
delivery of services, involving 
working with partners in the 
health and social care 
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community to ensure that 
pressures and shortfalls in 
capacity are better managed. 

 
The Trust is looking to request a 
re-inspection of its services with 
the aim of being rated as ‘good’ 
and ‘outstanding’ The 
achievement of this includes a 
dependency on whole system 
change in health and social care in 
our area. 
 
Quality Accounts 
The 2013/14 Quality Accounts 
were presented to the Board in 
June 2014. Subsequently, a 
qualified audit opinion on the 
quality accounts was received 
from the Trust’s External Auditors. 
This related to the Friends and 
Family Test and Venous 
Thromboembolism (VTE) 
assessment audit.  
 
With regard to the Friends and 
Family Test, the Trust used an 
approved best practice system 
using tokens within the 
Emergency Department. The 
auditors stated that it was difficult 
to independently verify through 
audit this method and were 
therefore unable to test the 
indicator within the Quality 
Accounts. The auditors have 
reported this same statement for 
all acute Trusts using this best 
practice methodology. 
 
Regarding the VTE assessment a 
small sample size (of 25 patient 
records) had been reviewed, with 
four identified as not having 
evidence of the assessment being 
completed. The auditors confirmed 
that there was no requirement for 
them to extend the sample size. 
The Trust therefore undertook an 
internal review of performance 
against the VTE assessment in 
order to confirm compliance 
against this patient quality 
measure. 
 
Counter Fraud 
As part of the Trust’s approach to 
preventing and deterring fraud, the 
Trust uses the services of a Local 
Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS). 

The LCFS produces a work plan 
each year which is agreed by the 
Audit Committee and allows for 
work on fraud detection, 
prevention and deterrence to be 
undertaken. An annual report on 
Counter Fraud activity is provided 
to the Trust through the Audit 
Committee. Counter Fraud training 
is mandatory for all Trust staff. 
 
National Priorities from the NHS 
TDA Accountability Framework 
The Trust took account of the TDA 
Accountability Framework in its 
internal management and Board 
reporting arrangements. Key 
metrics from the Accountability 
Framework are reported to the 
Board monthly through the 
Integrated Performance Report 
(IPR) summary with more detailed 
information going to Finance and 
Performance and Governance 
Committees as appropriate.  
 
The Trust experienced a number 
of operational challenges in 2014-
15 in particular with the delivery of 
the Emergency Department 
operational standard. Action plans 
and a recovery trajectory are in 
place.  
 
Whilst the incomplete Referral to 
Treatment (RTT) standard was 
delivered for each month in 2014-
15, in several months the admitted 
RTT standard was not achieved in 
order to allow for the maximum 
possible number of long waiting 
patients to be treated however this 
was in line with in year changes to 
tripartite national guidance.  
The management of elective 
waiting times is clearly set out 
within RCHT’s Access, Booking 
and Choice Policy which describes 
how the national guidance should 
be applied locally. The policy has 
been agreed with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group, and is 
within date (valid until November 
2016) and is published and 
available on line.  
 
Effective scrutiny of elective 
waiting times is in place via a 
weekly Executive Director-led 
meeting, supported by weekly 

meetings within the operational 
Divisions, in which performance 
against the three Referral to 
Treatment (RTT) standards are 
monitored. The performance 
management framework also 
reviews performance against other 
elective waiting time standards, as 
well as other key waiting time 
indicators, such as the 11 week 
‘back-stop’ target for new 
outpatient appointments. In 
addition, a rolling programme 
ensures that several quality 
indicators are also routinely 
scrutinised. Training is provided 
routinely and as required and is 
bespoke to support management 
of access standards. 
 
A number of processes are in 
place to ensure the quality of the 
waiting time data. These include 
weekly validation of any unknown 
clock starts, weekly review of 
incomplete pathways over 13 
weeks wait, without a decision to 
admit, and the validation of the 
pathway when patients with a 
decision to admit are added to the 
elective waiting list. Completed 
pathways in excess of 18 weeks 
are also validated monthly. An 
audit programme is in place, 
delivered by the Access Team, 
which enables detailed, objective 
scrutiny of waiting list 
management to provide assurance 
regarding the application of the 
Access Policy. 
 
There are two inherent risks to the 
quality and accuracy of the 
elective waiting times, which are 
common across many Trusts. The 
first is the holding of waiting time 
information across a variety of 
clinical administrative systems, 
which could result in inaccurate 
waiting time data if not linked 
together robustly.  
 
The second is the risk of human 
error administrating such systems. 
The outcome of each could be 
both under-recording and over-
recording of pathway lengths.  
 
There are a number of provisions 
in place which seek to mitigate 
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these risks in terms of the 
electronic processing of waiting 
time data, supported by the 
production of data quality 
reporting. In addition, the 
validation and audit processes 
described earlier also provide 
mitigation. Any waiting list/time 
management errors are reported 
following the Trust’s incident 
management process. 
 
The Trust, as one of forty-two 
participants, was selected to 
participate in the independently 
undertaken National Waiting List 
Data Validation Programme 
between January and March 2015 
which aimed to: 

 Review using a standard 
methodology Trust patient 
records that are on the 
incomplete RTT pathway and 
make recommendations 
regarding the removal of 
those records 

 Review the access polices for 
the Trust against a standard 
developed checklist 

 Provide assurance that 18 
week incomplete RTT 
pathways are reviewed 
against best practice 
guidance and are cleansed 
by Trusts as appropriate 

 Any identified practices 
adversely affecting the 
validity of the waiting list 
information are documented 
and provided to the Trust. 

 
The ‘close-out’ report key 
conclusions were: 

 “The internal validation 
processes at the Royal 
Cornwall is very efficient” 

 “The Trust method of 
validation and applying clock 
stops means their PTL list 
remains clean and provides 
them with accurate monthly 
reporting stats” 

 “All admin staff at the Trust 
were well trained on the 18 
week pathway rules and this 
allows them to identify 
potential breaches” 

 
Additionally, the Data Quality 
Strategy is currently being 

reviewed, updated and merged 
with the Records Management 
Strategy to form a new 
encompassing Strategy - 
“Records, Information and Data 
Quality Strategy”.   The Strategy 
will lay down the Trust approach to 
managing information and data 
quality wherever data is collected; 
electronically or manually, clinical 
or in business support.  The  
 
Trust’s aim is to maximise the 
accuracy, timeliness and quality of 
data collected.  High standards in 
data quality will aid the Trust in 
meeting its patient safety and 
governance obligations as well as 
maximising its planning and 
finance capabilities. 
 
(E) Review of the Effectiveness 
of Risk Management and 
Internal Control 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have 
responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of 
internal control.  My review is 
informed in a number of ways.   
 
The Head of Internal Audit 
provides me with an opinion on 
the overall arrangements for 
gaining assurance through the 
Assurance Framework and on the 
controls reviewed as part of the 
internal audit work. Executive 
managers within the organisation 
who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of 
the system of internal control 
provide me with assurance.   
The Integrated Performance 
Report (IPR) to the Trust Board 
that measures the Trust 
performance against quality and 
safety, finance, local and national 
targets and workforce provides me 
with assurance. 
  
The Board Assurance Framework 
itself provides me with evidence 
that the effectiveness of controls 
that manage the risks to the 
organisation achieving its principal 
objectives have been reviewed.   
 
My review is also informed by: 

 Consideration of conclusions 
formed by the Care Quality 
Commission during the year 
on the Trust’s status;  

 Consideration of the actions 
taken to address the issues 
highlighted in the previous 
Annual Governance 
Statement; 

 I have been advised for my 
review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control 
by the Board, Audit 
Committee, Governance 
Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and Trust 
Management Committee. A 
plan to address weaknesses 
and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is 
in place.  

 
In 2014-15 the Trust’s External 
Auditors did not raise any specific 
concerns in relation to internal 
control arrangements. 
 
(F) Significant Issues for 2014-
15 
A single definition of a “significant 
internal control issue” is not 
possible.  NHS organisations need 
to exercise judgement in deciding 
whether or not a particular issue 
should be regarded as falling into 
this category.  This section sets 
out the significant control issues 
that have arisen during 2014-15.  
 
Significant Control Issues 
Identified through the Work of 
Internal Audit 
The Head of Internal Audit opinion 
for 2014-15 has been received. 
This states that significant 
assurance can be given that there 
is a sound system of internal 
control which is designed to meet 
the organisation’s objectives and 
that controls are being consistently 
applied in all the areas reviewed. 
No significant control issues were 
identified during 2014-15. 
 
Significant Control Issues 
Identified through the Work of 
External Auditors and regulators 
No significant control issues have 
been brought to the attention of 
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the Trust by its external auditors or 
other regulators. 
 
Serious Incidents 
There have been a number of 
incidents during 2014-15 which 
have been evaluated through the 
Trust’s formal processes and 
which do not present any areas for 
major concern. 
 
The Trust has however had three 
Never Events since 1st April 2014, 
and in response to these the Trust 
has undertaken a programme of 
reviewing and strengthening the 
safety of patients undergoing 
invasive clinical procedures. Never 
Events are defined as “serious, 
largely preventable patient safety 
incidents that should not occur if 
the available preventative 
measures have been 
implemented”. 
 
The three events were: 

 An incorrect Cardiac 
Implantable Electronic Device 
(CIED) implanted 

 Wrong site breast surgery; 
and 

 Retained swab in Cardiology 
 
Financial Issues 
The Trust set a plan to achieve a 
surplus of £3.9m in 2014-15 and, 
within this, deliver savings of 
£14m. At the financial year end 
the Trust reported a deficit of 
£6.9m as a result of non-delivery 
of savings, marginal rate income 
at 30% for high rates of non-
elective admissions, imposition of 
penalties due to failing to meet all 
operational performance 
standards, high costs of variable 
pay expenditure in relation to 
sustaining services and supporting 
significant operational pressures, 
and a shortfall in income against 
elective activity targets. 
 
The Trust’s financial plan for 2015-
16 is based on ensuring that the 
Trust’s financial performance does 
not deteriorate from the 2014-15 
underlying financial position and 
that the reported deficit is 
therefore not more than £5.5m. 
 

A formal 3 year Financial 
Recovery Programme will be 
finalised during the first quarter of 
the 2015-16 financial year to 
ensure that savings programmes 
are in place up to and including 
the 2017-18 financial year, with 
the target to report a breakeven or 
surplus in 2016-17 and a circa 1% 
surplus in 2017-18. 
 
Emergency Department 4 hour 
target 
During 2014/15 the Trust was 
unable to achieve the Emergency 
Department 4hr 95% standard in 
any single month.  
 
The year-end ED performance 
was 86.5%. Performance was 
between 90% and 95% in June 
and December 2014 with all other 
months below 90%. Performance 
varied significantly week on week 
and this variation will need to be 
eradicated for the Trust to meet 
the operational standard in 2015-
16.   
 
Analysis shows that the cause of 
the poor performance is multi-
factorial but can be broadly 
divided into the following 
categories: 

 Maintaining internal 
professional standards;  

 Performance and predictive 
management;  

 Managing demand and 
effective discharge. 

 
As part of a whole system review 
the Trust engaged with the 
National Emergency Care 
Intensive Support Team (ECIST) 
and took feedback and 
recommendations for 
improvement from the review 
findings.  
 
During  a period of “black“ 
operational escalation for the 
health system the Trust developed 
closer working relationships with 
health community partners and 
commissioners in order to jointly 
manage whole systems flow 
during a very difficult operational 
period. This improved working 
relationship is key to on-going 

daily management of patient flow 
through and out of the hospital.  
 
Timely discharge of patients 
remains a key area of focus for the 
Trust and system partners.  The 
Trust has mandated the need to 
set estimated dates of discharge 
for patients across the whole 
hospital which is developed in 
conjunction with Onward Care 
partners. This improves the 
identification of patients who are 
clinically stable, i.e. where a 
patient’s care can continue to be 
cared for in another setting. This 
will also enable the Trust to more 
accurately measure delays of 
transfer of care. 
 
In conjunction with other health 
community partners, the Trust has 
designed a patient information 
leaflet which explains to patients 
their role in their discharge and 
their options for support once their 
period of acute care is concluded. 
A&E performance remains 
variable and work will need to 
continue throughout the coming 
year.   
 
The Trust will further develop 
internal professional standards for 
all staff who contribute to the 
treating patients within the 4hr 
operational standard; reviewing 
staffing levels and appointing 
substantive staff to critical vacant 
posts within the Emergency 
Department to reduce the reliance 
on bank and agency staff.  
 
The Trust remains engaged with 
ECIST and is confident that the 
range of improvement actions with 
system partners will deliver 
improvements in performance 
during the first quarter of 2015-16. 
 
Mortality and Morbidity 
The Dr Foster hospital 
standardised mortality rate 
(HSMR) data for April 2013 to 
March 2014 was as 
follows:  overall mortality: 110.5, 
weekend mortality: 125.3. These 
figures were recognised by the 
Trust as high with the Trust 
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flagging as an outlier, particularly 
for weekend mortality.  
 
The mortality improvement plan 
developed by the Trust sought to 
address specific issues including 
adequate staffing levels, timely 
consultant review and the 
recognition and appropriate 
escalation of deteriorating 
patients.  In addition, the 
membership of the Mortality 
Review Committee was 
strengthened to include junior 
medical as well as non-medical 
staff and the process of mortality 
review within specialties improved; 
2014 saw almost 100% 
compliance with the mortality 
review process.   
 
The development of a monthly 
mortality newsletter informs key 
clinical and managerial staff of on-
going issues concerning mortality 
within the Trust and ensures 
maximum dissemination of 
learning from review of deaths in 
the Trust.  Latest rolling data (Dec 
2013 to Nov 2014) show an 
improving picture with an overall 
HSMR of 99.6 with 110.1 for 
weekends. The Trust remains 
vigilant regarding its performance 
in this priority area.  
 
Black Alert Status 
Cornwall Health and Social Care 
System declared a significant 
incident "Black" on the 16th 
February 2015.  Black alert status 
is defined when there is extreme 
effect on services, risk to patient 
safety when services are 
overwhelmed by levels of 
demand.   
A significant incident can only be 
declared with the agreement of all 
partner health and social care 
organisations including the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and prior to 
black status being declared a 
number of actions are required to 
be taken across the health and 
social community system with the 
aim of de-escalating the situation. 
As these actions failed to manage 
the situation satisfactorily the alert 
was issued and sustained for just 
under two weeks.  

 
The NHS England (South) 
escalation framework outlines 
national process for managing 
capacity surge and processes to 
be followed.  In accordance with 
national guidance the Cornwall 
health and social care system 
established multi-agency tactical 
and strategic command and 
control centres with the aim of a 
co-ordinated effort to address the 
significant incident which included 
extraordinarily measures to 
release capacity across the 
system.   On 24th February the 
system took the decision to de-
escalate following the impact of 
the measures taken and stood 
down from ‘black’ to ‘standby to 
black.   
 
The Cornwall Health and Social 
Care system remains under 
significant operational pressures 
and as such have continued with a 
centralised command and control 
centre at "silver" level enabling 
operational themes across the 
community to continue to work 
more effectively together on a 
daily basis. 
 
Health and Safety Executive 
(HSE) Fines 
During the year the Trust was 
prosecuted by the Health and 
Safety Executive (HSE) for failing 
to take measures to prevent or 
monitor at least 23 cases of 
dermatitis among staff between 
2007 and 2012. The Trust was 
fined £10,000 and ordered to pay 
court costs. Since this was 
identified, there was an 
acknowledgment by the HSE, in 
court, that the Trust has improved 
its practices and stepped up its 
focus on helping to prevent this 
situation reoccurring. 
 
Staff Survey Results 
In previous years, the Trust has 
had challenging results from the 
NHS Staff Survey.   
 
The 2014 survey had a response 
rate of 45% (against a national 
response rate of 41%).  
 

The implementation of the 
quarterly NHS Staff Friends and 
Family test may have had an 
impact on the willingness of staff 
to complete the survey, given the 
increased survey activity. Results 
on satisfaction with the trust as a 
place to work or a place to be 
treated were variable throughout 
2014, with local influences playing 
into response rates. 
 
The Trust recognises that the staff 
survey results are poor. The Trust 
had the lowest scores in a number 
of areas including staff feeling 
satisfied with the quality of work 
and patient care they are able to 
deliver (64%) and feeling secure 
raising concerns about unsafe 
practice (54%). The Trust also had 
the worst national score for staff 
job satisfaction and staff 
recommending the Trust as a 
place to work or receive treatment. 
This is in contrast however to the 
95% of patients that would 
recommend the Trust.  
 
The Trust recognises that those 
staff responding to the National 
Staff Survey do report a less than 
positive experience to other 
qualitative data that are received 
as a Trust.  
 
A good example of this is the 
comments received by the Care 
Quality Commission during their 
visit in 2014. Staff reported that 
change implemented in the Trust 
‘had been positive…the Trust had 
improved… and staff felt proud to 
work there. There was a high 
degree of respect for the 
Executive team.’  
 
Over the next 12 months the Trust 
will work hard to understand the 
difference in the perceptions of 
staff and clearly understand why it 
is that staff are saying that they 
would not recommend the Trust as 
a place to work or receive 
treatment. A range of approaches 
to do this, with a focus on 
commencing an honest dialogue 
to determine what it is that would 
enable staff to report positive 
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working experiences at the Trust, 
will be established. 
 
Conclusion  
 
Subject to the matters outlined in 
this statement, my review confirms 
that the Trust has a generally 
sound system of internal controls 
that supports the achievement of 
its policies, aims and objectives, 
and that those control issues have 
been, or are being, addressed.  
 
Bill Shields, Chief Executive 
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS 
Trust    
1 June 2015 
 
{original copy signed}
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Director’s report 
 
The Trust Board is accountable to the NHS Trust Development Authority 
(TDA). The Trust board consists of the chairman, five non-executive directors, 
one associate non-executive director, chief executive, nurse executive, medical 
director, director of human resources and organisational development, director 
of finance, director of operations and a director of strategy and business 
development, as outlined below.  Profiles of each of the Trust’s board directors 
are available on our website at www.rcht.nhs.uk  
 

Non-executive directors Committee membership 
 

Angela Ballatti* - Chairman Remuneration (Chairman) 
ex-officio member of all committees 

Roger Gazzard – Deputy Chairman Audit Committee (Chairman) 
Finance, Performance & Investment 
Remuneration 

John Bennett Charitable Funds (Chairman)  
Finance, Performance & Investment 
(Chairman) 
Remuneration 

Adam Broome Audit 
Finance, Performance & Investment 
Remuneration 

Dr Mairi Mclean Audit 
Governance 
Remuneration 

Charlotte Russell Charitable Funds 
Governance 
Remuneration 

Prof Steve Thornton (Associate) Governance 
Remuneration 

Executive Directors 
 

 

Bill Shields – Chief Executive Ex-officio member of all committees 

Andrew MacCallum – Nurse Executive 
and Deputy Chief Executive 

Governance 

Dr Rob Parry – Medical Director Governance 

Nick Macklin – Director of Human 
Resources & Organisational 
Development 

Governance 

Steve Vaughan – Interim Operational 
Lead 

Governance 
Finance, Performance & Investment 

Karl Simkins – Director of Finance Finance, Performance & Investment 
Audit 

Ethna McCarthy – Director of Strategy 
& Business Development 

Finance, Performance & Investment 

 
*Note: Trust Board membership as at 31.3.2015 
 
The Board has adopted the principles set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Code of Governance and will formally assess compliance with the Code before 
it becomes a Foundation Trust. 
 
The Trust’s committee structure and coverage of each Committee is included in 
each Committee’s Terms of Reference as approved by the Board. Critical 
responsibilities relating to governance are set out as follows: 

The Remuneration Committee 
determines appropriate 
remuneration and terms of service 
for the Chief Executive, Executive 
Board Directors, very senior staff 
managers, and staff on local terms 
and conditions. The committee 
also, following advice from the 
Chief Executive, evaluates 
corporate and individual 
performance of Executive 
Directors and oversees 
appropriate contractual 
arrangements for such staff.  
 
The Audit Committee is 
responsible for considering the 
systems and standards of internal 
control within the Trust, including 
control of securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness.  The 
Committee’s focus has included: 
 

 Independently and objectively 
monitoring, reviewing and 
reporting to the Trust Board 
on the processes of internal 
control across the whole of 
the organisation’s activities 
(both clinical and non-
clinical); 

 The operation of the Board's 
assurance framework for the 
management of its principal 
risks; and the structures, 
processes and 
responsibilities for identifying 
and the managing key risks 
facing the Trust; 

 Reviewing and approving all 
risk and control related 
disclosure statements, in 
particular the Annual 
Governance Statement 
(AGS) and the Head of 
Internal Audit Opinion, prior 
to endorsement by the Board; 

 Considering the integrity, 
completeness and clarity of 
annual accounts and the 
risks and controls around its 
management;  

 Reviewing the work of other 
committees whose work can 
provide relevant assurance; 
and 
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 Requesting and reviewing 
reports and positive 
assurances from Directors 
and Managers on the overall 
arrangements for internal 
controls. 

 
The Governance Committee is 
responsible for rigorously keeping 
under review all aspects of the 
Trust's clinical and 
corporate governance. This 
includes, in particular, ensuring 
that the Trust meets all its duties 
and obligations under the NHS 
Constitution; plus all other 
statutory, regulatory and best 
practice requirements by which it 
is bound as a public body, and for 
whose good implementation it is 
accountable to the people and 
community of Cornwall and Isles 
of Scilly. It especially includes all 
aspects of the risk management 
process regarding clinical, quality 
and safety and obtaining 
assurance on all aspects of the 
Trust's declarations and its 
registration by the Care Quality 
Commission. 
 
The Governance Committee’s 
focus has included: 

 Supporting the Audit 
Committee’s role on 
scrutinising the effectiveness 
of compliance mechanisms 
within the Trust; 

 Overseeing the delivery of an 
integrated governance 
structure for the Trust; 

 Assuring the Board on the 
implementation and 
effectiveness of governance 
and quality arrangements 
within the Trust; 

 Confirming policies for 
ensuring that there is 
compliance with relevant 
regulatory, legal and code of 
conduct requirements  and 
other relevant guidance; and 

 Obtaining assurance on the 
Trust’s registration with the 
Care Quality Commission. 

 
 
 
 

The Finance, Performance and 
Investment Committee conducts 
independent and objective reviews 
of the Trust’s financial and 
operational performance, it’s 
investment policy and associated 
investment proposals, the Trust’s 
business plan and performance 
business risks impacting on the 
Trust’s business objectives. 
 
The Risk Management 
Committee is a sub-committee of 
the Governance Committee and 
its purpose is to direct the Trust’s 
management of all areas of risk 
and to ensure that all elements of 
the Risk Management Strategy 
are addressed within available 
resources. This includes 
management of risk in relation to 
the achievement of the Trust’s 
corporate objectives and the 
Board Assurance Framework. The 
Committee is chaired by the lead 
director for clinical risk, the Deputy 
Chief Executive & Nurse 
Executive, and its membership 
also comprises the Director of 
Finance & Performance, the Chief 
Operating Officer (currently the 
Interim Director of Operations) and 
the Company Secretary with other 
key senior managers from across 
the Trust. 
 
 
Board meetings and 
membership 
 
The Board met a total of eight 
times in public in 2014-15: April 
2014, May 2014, June 2014, July 
2014, September 2014, November 
2014, January 2015 and March 
2015.  
 
In year changes to membership of 
the Board, were as follows: 
Chief Executive, Lezli Boswell until 
31st October 2014 
Acting Chief Executive, Andrew 
MacCallum, from 1st November 
2014 to 5th January 2015 
Chief Executive, Bill Shields, from 
5th January 2015 
Jo Gibbs, Chief Operating Officer 
until 6th February 2015 

Steven Vaughan, Interim Director 
of Operations from 16th March 
2015 
Rik Evans, Non-Executive Director 
to 29th May 2014 
Professor Steve Thornton, 
Associate Non-Executive Director 
from 1st May 2014 
Mr Adam Broome, Non-Executive 
Director, from 22nd September 
2014 
 
All meetings of the Board have 
been quorate. 
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Shadow Council of Governors 
 
In March 2013, 21 shadow 
governors were elected and 
appointed as the Trust’s first 
Shadow Council of Governors as 
part of the Trust’s application for 
NHS Foundation Trust status. The 
Shadow Council provides a link 
between the Trust and the 
community that the Trust serves. 
 
Our Shadow Council of Governors 
has continued to meet during 
2014-15 and a number of them 
have been actively engaged in 
recruitment of more members of 
the public to our membership 
scheme.  Due to the plan to 
submit a new Foundation Trust 
application our Shadow Governors 
have taken a decision to suspend 
their terms of office until that new 
process begins. 
 
Our Shadow Governors are: 
 
Elected public governors 
West – Chris Goninan, Graham 
Webster 
Central West – Jane Adams, 
Beatrice Dyer, Keith Hughes 
Central East – Andy Cole, Tracey 
Collins 
East – Max Hailey, Mike Nicholls 
Isles of Scilly – Steve Manning 
 
Elected staff governors 
Dr Nick Hollings, Jeremy Gilbert, 
Susan Hawkins, Kevin Bolt, Dr 
Rachel Newman 
 
Appointed partner governors 
Cllr Marion Bennett – The Isles of 
Scilly Council 
Cllr Jim McKenna – Cornwall 
Council 
Chris Blong – NHS Kernow 
(Clinical Commission Group) 
Dr Emma Bland – University of 
Exeter 
Prof Liz Kay – University of 
Plymouth 
 
Declarations of interest for our 
Shadow Governors can be found 
on our website: www.rcht.nhs.uk 
  
 
 

Board Assurance Framework 
and the Annual Governance 
Statement 
 
The Board Assurance Framework 
(BAF) is the key document for the 
Board in monitoring the 
effectiveness of the performance 
of the Trust in respect of 
governance issues and meeting its 
objectives. This has been 
developed through the evaluation 
of the four strategic and principal 
objectives for 2014-15.  
 
The Trust’s objectives were 
refreshed as part of the 
development of the Trust’s 
Business Plan which takes into 
account the Trust’s risk 
management agenda and brings 
together the strategic priorities and 
objectives of the organisation to 
assure the Board that any risks 
that may jeopardise the 
achievement of the objectives are 
identified and effectively managed.  
 
The Board Assurance Framework 
is a key source of assurance when 
preparing the Annual Governance 
Statement, along with the Head of 
Internal Audit Opinion.  
 
The Audit Committee plays a key 
role in providing the Board with the 
assurance it requires, with 
particular focus on the 
effectiveness of the Trust’s 
internal control system. The Audit 
Committee reports regularly to the 
Board. 
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Remuneration Report 
 
Introduction 
 
Section 234B and Schedule 7A of the Companies Act, as interpreted for the public sector, requires NHS bodies to prepare a 
Remuneration Report containing information about directors’ remuneration. In the NHS the report will be in respect of the 
Senior Managers of the NHS body. ‘Senior Managers’ are defined as: ‘those persons in senior positions having authority or 
responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the NHS body. This means those who influence the decisions 
of the entity as a whole, rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ For the purposes of this report, 
this covers the Trust’s Non Executive and Executive Directors. 
 
The Secretary of State for Health determines the Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors nationally. 
 
Remuneration for Executive Board members is determined by the Remuneration Committee. 
 
Certain detail included within the Remuneration Report is auditable and has been referred to in the Independent Auditors 
Opinion on the Financial Statements. Where information included within the Report has been audited, this has been 
highlighted. 
 
The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 
 
The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee were updated and approved by the Board in May 2011 under the 
review of governance arrangements. The membership of the remuneration committee consists of the Trust Board Chairman 
and all Non-Executive Directors. In the absence of the Board Chairman a nominated Non-Executive Director will act as 
Chair. 
 
Remuneration Policy – Executive Directors 
 
Amendments to salary are determined annually by the Remuneration Committee. Salary is inclusive – other payments such 
as bonus, overtime, long hours, on-call, standby etc. do not feature in executive director remuneration. Executive director 
performance is monitored through the formal appraisal process, based on organisational and individual objectives. 
 
The Medical Director’s salary is in accordance with the Terms and Conditions – Consultants (England) 2003. In addition, a 
responsibility allowance is payable for the duration of executive office. 
 
Details of remuneration and pensions for Non-Executive and Executive Directors are detailed in Annex 1. 
 
Pay Multiples 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their 
organisation and the median remuneration of their organisation’s workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director at the Trust in the financial year 2014-15 was £180,000-185,000 
(2013-14: £180,000-185,000). This was 6.49 times (2013-14: 7.46) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was 
£28,125 (2013-14: £24,468). 
 
In 2014-15, 3 (2013-14: 3) employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director. Remuneration ranged 
from £187,741 to £208,572 (2013-14: £185,481 to £193,088). 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not include 
pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
 
The reduction in the pay multiple ratio arose from the increase in the median pay level compared to the unchanged salary of 
the highest-paid director. During the year the Trust outsourced it hotel services function, transferring staff to the provider 
organisation. This has had the impact of increasing the median pay. 
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Duration of contracts, notice periods and termination payments 
 
Other than the Medical Director, whose executive role endures for the duration of office, Executive Directors are employed 
on contracts of service and are substantive employees of the Trust. Executive Directors’ contracts can be terminated by 
either party with up to 6 months’ notice.  Following the departure of an Executive Director and in advance of a new 
appointee commencing, the Trust may engage a suitably qualified and experienced interim director to ensure continuity of 
leadership. 
 
There are no special contractual compensation provisions for the early termination of 
Executive Directors’ contracts. Early termination by reason of redundancy or, ‘in the interests of the efficiency of the service’ 
is subject to the provisions of the Agenda for Change NHS Terms and Conditions Handbook (Section 16). 
 
Employees above the minimum retirement age who themselves request termination by reason of early retirement, are 
subject to the normal provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of termination packages, for all staff, paid by the Trust 
are detailed in Annex 2. 
 
Non-Executive Directors 
 
The dates of contracts and unexpired terms of office for the Non-Executive Directors are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
There is no period of notice required for Non-Executive Directors. 
 

Name Appointment Start 
Date

Appointment End 
Date

Reappointment 
Start Date

Reappointment 
End Date

Angela Ballatti
(Interim Chair) 28 June 2013 07 January 2015 08 January 2015 07 July 2015

Adam Broome 22 September 2014 21 September 2016

Roger Gazzard 08 October 2010 07 October 2014 08 October 2014 07 October 2016

Charlotte Russell 21 January 2014 20 January 2018

John Bennett 13 January 2014 12 January 2018

Mairi Mclean 13 January 2014 12 January 2018

Professor Steve 
Thornton 08 May 2014 07 May 2018



Remuneration report 
 

 Annual Report 2014 - 15 42 

ANNEX 1: Salary and Pension Entitlements of Senior Managers 
Salaries and Allowances

 

Salary 
(bands of 

£5,000)

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 
nearest 

£100

TOTAL 
(bands of 

£5,000)

Salary 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) total 
to nearest 

£100

TOTAL 
(bands of 
£5,000)

£000 £00 £000 £000 £00 £000
Angela Ballatti
Interim Chair
(from July 2013)

John Bennett
Non-Executive Director
(from 13 January 2014)

Adam Broome
Non-Executive Director
(from 22 September 2014)

Mairi Mclean
Non-Executive Director
(from 13 January 2014)

Charlotte Russell
Interim Non-Executive Director
(31 October 2013 to 20 January 2014)
Non-Executive Director
(from 21 January 2014)

Rik Evans
Non-Executive Director
(to 29 May 2014)

Roger Gazzard
Non-Executive Director

Professor Steve Thornton
Associate Non-Executive Director
(from 8 May 2014)

Martin Watts
Chair
(to 19 June 2013)

Susan Hall
Non-Executive Director
(to 28 June 2013)

Mike Higgins
Non-Executive Director
to 27 June 2013
Interim Chair
(25 June 2013 to 27 June 2013)

Douglas Webb
Non-Executive Director
(to 31 October 2013)

Professor Sir Roger Boyle
Associate Non-Executive Director
(to 28 June 2013)

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements

0-5 0 0-5

5-10 0 5-10

5-10 0 5-10

5-10 0 5-10

0-5 0 0-5

5-10 0 5-10

2013-14

25-30

0-5

2014-15

35-40 0 35-40

5-10 0 5-10

Non-Executive Directors

25-30 0

0-5

0-5 0

0-5 0 0-5

0-5 0

0-5 0 0

5-10 0 5-10

5-10

5-10 0 5-10

0 0

5-10 0

0

0-5

0-5 0 0-5

0-5 0

0-5

0-5 0 0-5

0-5 0
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ANNEX 1: Salary and Pension Entitlements of Senior Managers (continued) 
 
Salaries and Allowances (continued) 
 

 
 
 

Salary 
whilst in 
post as 
senior 

manager
(bands of 

£5,000)

Other 
salary

(bands of 
£5,000)

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 
nearest 

£100

Exit 
packages

All pension-
related 
benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500)

TOTAL 
(bands of 

£5,000)

£000 £000 £00 £ £000 £000
Bill Shields
Chief Executive (from 5 January 2015)

Lezli Boswell
Chief Executive (to 31 October  2014)

Joanne Gibbs
Chief Operating Officer (to 6 February 2015)

Andrew MacCallum
Nursing Executive & Deputy Chief Executive
Acting Chief Executive (1 November 2014-4 January 2015)

Nick Macklin
Director of Human Resources

Ethna McCarthy
Director of Strategy & Business Development

Rob Parry
Medical Director

Karl Simkins
Director of Finance

Adam Wheeldon
Acting Director of Finance (to 30 June 2014)

Mid-point of total paid remuneration band of the highest paid 
Director

Median Total Remuneration

Ratio

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements

0

£182,500

£28,125

6.49

12.5-15 195-200

145-150 0 0 0 137.5-140 285-290

125-130 0 0 77.5-80 200-205

140-145

0 22.5-25 130-135

2014-15

100-105 70-75 18 0 175-180

115-120 0 10 0 180-185

55-60 0 0 0 55-60

0

0

0

0 32 0 140-145

35-40 60-65 0 10-12.5 110-115

110-115 0

65,423

180-185 0 15

Senior Managers

0

0

0
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No bonus payments were made to senior managers in either 2014-15 or 2013-14. Clinical Excellence Awards, are included 
within 'salary'.  
 
‘All pension related benefits’ disclosed in the table above represent the increase in pension benefits in the financial year. 
Pension benefits are calculated as 20 times the annual pension entitlement at age 60 plus the value of any lump sum 
pension entitlement. These figures are adjusted for inflation. 

Salary 
whilst in 
post as 
senior 

manager
(bands of 

£5,000)

Other 
salary

(bands of 
£5,000)

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 
nearest 

£100

All pension-
related 
benefits 
(bands of 
£2,500)

TOTAL 
(bands of 

£5,000)

£000 £000 £00 £000 £000
Lezli Boswell
Chief Executive

Joanne Gibbs
Chief Operating Officer

Andrew MacCallum
Nursing Executive & Deputy Chief Executive (from 21 January 
2014) 
Interim Nursing Executive (to 20 January 2014)
Ethna McCarthy
Director of Strategy & Business Development

Karl Simkins
Director of Finance

Adam Wheeldon
Acting Director of Finance (from 9 September 2013)

Rob Parry
Medical Director (from 1 February 2014)

Duncan Browne
Interim Medical Director (from 1 August to 31 January 2014)

Paul Upton
Medical Director (to 4 August 2013)

Nick Macklin
Director of Human Resources (from 15 April 2013)

Mid-point of total paid remuneration band of the highest paid 
Director

Median Total Remuneration

Ratio
The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements

137.5-140 315-320

30-35 195-197.5

95-100 37.5-40 205-210

125-130 0

0

£24,468

7.46

£182,500

150-15542.5-45105-110

140-145

00

14

70-75

120-12560-65

Senior Managers

10-12.5

10-12.5

175-180

130-135

15

2

52.5-55 135-140

0

0

0

35-40

145-150

112.5-115 225-230

2013-14

0

0

0

0

350-355

7.5-10

135-140 0 0 107.5-110 245-250

150-155

185-190

110-115

45-50
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ANNEX 1: Salary and Pension Entitlements of Senior Managers (continued) 
 
Pension Benefits 
 

 
 
There were no employers' contributions to stakeholder pensions. 
 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits 
accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any 
contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement 
to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to 
transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has 
accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to 
which the disclosure applies.  
 
The CETV figures and other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement 
which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
 
Real increase in CETV  
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension 
due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension 
scheme or arrangement).  
 
As Non-Executive Directors do not receive pensionable remuneration there are no entries in respect of pensions for Non-
Executive members. 
 

Senior Managers

Real increase in 
pension at age 

60 (bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase in 
pension lump 

sum at aged 60 
(bands of 

£2,500)

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
age 60 at 31 
March 2015 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Lump sum at 
age 60 

related to 
accrued 

pension  at 
31 March 

2014 (bands 
of £5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2015 
as provided 
by NHSPA

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2014 
as provided 
by NHSPA

Real 
increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Bill Shields
Chief Executive

0 0 60-65 180-185 1,046 1,028 0

Joanne Gibbs
Chief Operating Officer 0 0 35-40 110-115 624 616 (8)

Andrew MacCallum
Interim Nursing Execu ive 7.0 - 22.5 20 - 22.5 50-55 150-155 1,009 824 163

Ethna McCarthy
Director of Strategy & Business Development 2 5 - 5.0 12 5 - 15.0 40-45 130-135 813 695 98

Nick Macklin
Director of Human Resources

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 5-10 0 106 78 24

Rob Parry
Medical Director

0 - 2.5 2 5 - 5.0 40-45 130-135 798 732 47

Karl Simkins
Director of Finance 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 50-55 155-160 967 909 33

Adam Wheeldon
Acting Director of Finance 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 25-30 0 233 210 17

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on he financial statements
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ANNEX 2: Reporting of other compensation schemes - exit packages  
   
2014-15 
Exit packages agreed by the Trust in 2014-15 are disclosed within Note 9 of the Trust’s financial statements. One exit 
package related to a senior manager of the Trust and this is disclosed in the table above in Annex 1. The amounts paid 
were contractual payments in lieu of notice. 
 
2013-14 
No exit packages were agreed by the Trust in 2013-14 for senior managers. 
 
 
ANNEX 3: Off-payroll engagements 
 
As part of the Review of Tax Arrangements of Public Sector Appointees, published by the Chief Secretary to the Treasury 
on 23 May 2012, NHS bodies are required to publish information in their Annual Report regarding off-payroll engagements. 
 
Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2015, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than 6 months: 

 Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015 1 

Of which, the number that have existed: 

for less than one year at the time of reporting 1 

 
New off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015, for more than £220 per day and that last 
longer than 6 months:  

 Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April 
2014 and 31 March 2015 

1 

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the right to 
request assurance in relation to income tax and national insurance obligations 

1 

Of which: 

assurance has been received 1 

 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with significant 
financial responsibility, during the year 

0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or senior officers with 
significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This figure includes both off-payroll 
and on-payroll engagements 

0 
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Director of Finance review 
 
Key financial performance in 
2014-15 
 
This section sets out the key 
financial information in relation to 
financial performance in 2014-15 
and the preparation of the Trust’s 
financial statements. 
 
Statement of comprehensive 
income 
The Trust, along with many other 
NHS providers, had a challenging 
year financially linked in the main 
to key operational performance 
pressures. The Trust planned to 
deliver a £3.9m surplus in 2014-
15.  During the year, its financial 
position was reviewed and 
forecast a year end deficit of £7m 
in October 2014.  At year-end a 
deficit of £6.9m was recorded, 
which was £10.8m off the original 
plan.   
 
This was due to: 

 A failure to deliver the 
planned Cost Improvement 
Programme (CIP) (shortfall 
£4.3m); 

 A significant over spend in 
clinical divisions linked to 
operational challenge and 
non-delivery of savings; 

 High levels of expenditure on 
variable pay in particular 
agency staff which was partly 
attributable to recovering the 
elective activity position 
(agency pay totally £7.1m in 
2014-15 compared to £6m in 
2013-12 and £2.9m in 2012-
13). 

 
The overspends were partly offset 
by higher than planned income of 
£4m for the year.  The total 
income earned from NHS Kernow 
was £4.1m above plan.  Of this 
variance, £0.7m related to 
Payment by Results (PbR) activity 
with the remaining variance 
attributable to Non-PbR income 
and Winter Resilience Funding.   
 
 

Other financial duties 
During 2014-15 the Trust did 
operate within its External 
Financing and Capital Resource 
Limits as set by the Department of 
Health (DH).   
 
The cash balance at the end of the 
year was £7.6m. This was £4.5m 
below the forecast cash balance of 
£12.1m. The variance is due to the 
Trust’s deficit revenue position 
although this has been partially 
offset by lower than planned 
capital cash spend and other 
working capital improvements.   
 
Going concern basis 
The Trust has carried out a 
detailed assessment to satisfy 
itself that it continues to operate 
as a Going Concern.  
 
During the year the Trust repaid its 
historic debt loan of £18.76m.  A 
new revenue support loan of 
£24.7m was received in February 
2015.  The term of this loan is for 
15 years with a more favourable 
interest rate of 1.65% (interest rate 
of the historic debt loan - 5.32%). 
 
The Trust made loan repayments 
totalling £572k against its two 
other loans of £2m each which 
were received during 2012-13. 
One related to revenue support 
and was linked to the Trust’s 
liquidity, and one related to capital 
investment. Both loans are 
repayable over a 7 year and 1 
month term. 
 
During 2013-14 the Trust had 
approval from the Department of 
Health for a new Capital 
Investment loan of £5m.  £1.5m of 
this loan was drawn down in 
March 2014, with the remainder 
drawn down in 2014-15.  
Repayments of this loan will not 
commence until September 2015.  
The loan is repayable within 10 
years from when it was first issued 
resulting in annual repayments of 
£556k. 
 

The Statement of Financial 
Position (Balance Sheet) as at 31 
March 2015 shows net assets of 
£106m.  
 
During 2014-15 the Trust 
commissioned a revaluation of its 
land and building assets.  Prior to 
30 June 2014, the valuation of the 
Trust’s land and building assets 
was undertaken on the Modern 
Equivalent Asset (MEA) basis with 
the assets situated in their current 
location.  However, during the 
year an interim revaluation of its 
hospital site was undertaken 
whereby an alternative site was 
determined as the most suitable 
location for the modern equivalent 
assets.  The value of the Trust’s 
land and building assets prior to 
the revaluation was £137.9m and 
post valuation was £110.3m. 
Impairments and reversals 
totalling £14.2m were charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as a result of the 
valuation, with gains of £2.7m and 
impairments of £16.1m being 
credited and charged to the 
Revaluation Reserve respectively.   
 
Cumulative breakeven duty 
The Trust was unable to meet its 
cumulative breakeven duty in 
2014-15.  In 2008-09 the Trust 
agreed a recovery plan with NHS 
South (now the NHS TDA) to 
breakeven on a cumulative basis 
by 31 March 2013.  This plan was 
linked to the repayment of the 
Trust’s historic debt and resulted 
in planned surplus levels 
corresponding with the loan 
repayments.  Prior to 31 March 
2013 the Trust revisited its 
financial plans over the medium 
term to reflect updated financial 
planning assumptions and the 
expected re-scheduling of historic 
debt.  Following this review, the 
Trust forecast that it would 
achieve its breakeven duty on a 
cumulative basis by 31 March 
2016 by delivering surpluses of 
£3.9m per year.   
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The Trust did not achieve the 
planned surplus levels of £3.9m in 
2014-15 and now holds a 
cumulative deficit of £15.6m at 31 
March 2015.  The Trust has set a 
plan to record a deficit of £5.5m in 
2015-16, further worsening the 
cumulative breakeven position.   
 
 
Summary Financial Statements 
and an explanation of our 
annual accounts 
 
All NHS bodies have a statutory 
duty to produce annual financial 
accounts.  They are also required 
to produce an annual report, which 
describes the key activities and 
performance for the year.  
 
The annual accounts represent 
the main way in which NHS trusts 
deliver their obligation to report to 
taxpayers and service users the 
results of their stewardship of 
public money for the year.  The 
board of each trust is required to 
approve the annual accounts 
formally, once they have been 
audited. 
 
The format of each NHS trust’s 
accounts is specified by the DH.  
The content of the accounts is as 
follows: 
 
Four key statements: 
 

 Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

 Statement of Financial 
Position 

 Statement of Changes in 
Taxpayers Equity 

 Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Additional information included in 
the financial statements 
 

 Accounting Policies 

 Notes to the accounts 

 Annual Governance 
Statement 

 Directors’ Statement of 
Responsibilities 

 Auditor’s Report 
 
 

Performance against the Better 
Payments Practice Code 
 
The Better Payment Practice 
Code requires the Trust to aim to 
pay all undisputed invoices by the 
due date or within 30 days of 
receipt of goods or a valid invoice, 
whichever is later.  
 
The Trust has an on-going target 
to pay 95% of all invoices within a 
month of being received.  At the 
end of the year, 93% of invoices 
were cumulatively paid on time.   
Note 10 to the Trust’s accounts 
provides details on payment 
performance.  
 
External audit arrangements 
 
The Trust’s external auditor was 
appointed by the Audit 
Commission.  Grant Thornton UK 
LLP undertook this role for the 
Trust during 2014-15. The external 
auditors are required to comply 
with the Code of Audit Practice 
(the Code), which is laid before 
Parliament on a five year cycle; 
and the International Standards on 
Auditing, United Kingdom and 
Ireland.  Through the Code, 
external audit is set two main 
objectives:  
 

 to complete the audit of the 
annual financial accounts and 
annual governance 
statement; 

 to assess whether the Trust 
has made adequate 
arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness (value for 
money) in the use of 
resources. 

 
The audit report gives the auditor’s 
opinion stating whether the 
accounts give a ‘true and fair’ view 
of the Trust’s financial position for 
the year and as at the end of the 
financial year.  This opinion 
includes an assessment of 
whether the annual report is 
consistent with their knowledge of 
the Trust.  
 

The audit opinion, for 2014-15 was 
that the accounts do give a ‘true 
and fair’ view.  Accordingly, an 
unqualified audit opinion has been 
given by Grant Thornton UK LLP.   
 
The external auditors have 
confirmed that they are satisfied 
that the Trust has put in place 
adequate arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of 
resources (“value for money”), 
however due to the deficit 
delivered in year by the Trust the 
auditors will be issuing an except 
for, qualifying opinion in relation to 
the “‘value for money” opinion.   
 
In 2014-15, the Trust’s external 
audit fees totalled £116,000 
compared to £114,000 in 2013-14.  
It should be noted that the 2013-
14 audit fee included £12,000 
relating to the audit of the Quality 
Accounts, which were part of the 
core audit fees in 2013-14; in 
2014-15 the Quality Accounts 
audit fee is included within Other 
Auditors Remuneration.   
 
 
Looking forward to 2015-16: 
Position of the business in the 
future, including capital 
structure, treasury policy and 
liquidity 
 
The national and local NHS 
financial position for 2015-16 is as 
challenging a position as any has 
been in recent years. 
 
The Trust has entered into a 
standard national contract with 
NHS Kernow for 2015-16.  This 
enables the Trust to earn income 
for activity it delivers. The Trust is 
planning a deficit of £5.5m for 
2015-16, with an intention to move 
to a minimum breakeven position 
in 2016-17 and a surplus in 2017-
18.   
 
The Trust continues to work 
closely with commissioners to 
ensure that healthcare is provided 
in the most appropriate setting and 
for the best value.  
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At the same time, the Trust’s costs 
will increase due to inflationary 
pressures and the continual need 
to invest in the Trust’s services to 
maintain and improve patient care 
and facilities.  
 
In 2015-16 the Trust forecasts that 
income of £342.6m will be earned; 
of which £233.4m to will be earned 
from NHS Kernow and £50.3m 
from Specialised Commissioning.   
 
The Trust needs to make savings 
of £15m (4.3% of income) in order 
to deliver this financial plan. 
 
At the 31 March 2015 the Trust 
held cash balances of £7.6m.  In 
accordance with DH guidance the 
Trust must maintain a minimum 
cash balance of £1.8m, which 
equates to two days’ of operating 
expenses. In order to achieve this, 
with the planned level of deficit for 
2015-16, the Trust will require 
cash support of £5.7m. This 
support has been obtained 
through the use of an Interim 
Revolving Working Capital 
Support Facility with the DH which 
is in place. 
 
The Trust aims to invest £14.4m 
on capital expenditure in 2015-16, 
funded from £13m of internally 
generated funds via depreciation, 
£2.3m of externally generated 
funds, and offset by £0.9m of 
capital loan repayments. The Trust 
also expects to seek additional 
investment of c£6m during 2015-
16 in order to deliver other high 
priority schemes. 
 
Karl Simkins 
Director of Finance 
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Independent auditor’s statement to the board of directors of the Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS 
Trust for the year ended 31 March 2015 under the Audit Commission Act 1998.  
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ 
Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes.  The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and the accounting policies directed by the Secretary of State with the consent 
of the Treasury as relevant to the National Health Service in England. 
 
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is 
subject to audit, being: 
 

 the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related 
narrative notes 

 the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative 
notes 

 the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes 
 
This report is made solely to the Board of Directors of Royal Cornwall Hospitals 
NHS Trust in accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for 
no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the Audit 
Commission in 2014.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Trust’s directors and the 
Trust as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in 
respect of the accounts, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.  
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland).  Those standards also require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
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01872 250000 
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01736 753234 

West Cornwall Hospital 
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Penzance 
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01736 874000 
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